THE ACTIONS OF NICOTINE ON CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM FUNCTIONS¹

H. SILVETTE, E. C. HOFF, P. S. LARSON AND H. B. HAAG²

Departments of Pharmacology and of Neurological Science, Medical College of Virginia, Richmond, Virginia

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Introduction	
II.	Spontaneous activity	139
III.	Conditioned reflexes.	140
IV.	Learning	141
V.	Higher cerebral functions	142
	A. Sensorimotor functions	
	B. Brain potentials	143
	C. Tremor	148
	D. Convulsions	150
	E. Nicotine paralysis	153
	F. Nicotine catalepsy	154
VI.	Medullary functions	
	A. Vomiting	
	B. Respiration	
	C. Vasomotor functions	
VII.	Cerebellar functions	161
	Spinal functions	
		161
	B. Spinal reflexes.	
TX.	Summary.	

I. INTRODUCTION

Nicotine is both a neuropharmacological agent in its own right, and a pharmacological tool. Its properties and effects on the central nervous system would command only an academic interest were it not the principal ingredient of a plant used by millions of persons; but even if it were not for tobacco, nicotine would still be of inestimable importance as a tool in biological research. From its utilization as a tool, everything we know or may learn of the actions of nicotine on the central nervous system (CNS) is of potential value; however, so far as tobacco-smoking is concerned, much of what we already know of the neuropharmacological and other actions of nicotine is clearly *irrelevant*. The reasons behind this irrelevancy are, first, the quantitative matter of dosage, and secondly, the qualitative fact that nicotine is not the only, though it would seem to be the indispensable, factor, pharmacological or otherwise, involved in tobacco use. It appears reasonable to conclude that small doses of nicotine are used, so to speak, in tobacco-smoking for the primary purpose of CNS stimulation, while large doses are employed in the laboratory primarily to produce ganglionic paralysis.

¹ Preparation of this manuscript was aided by a grant from the Tobacco Industry Research Committee for literature research on the biologic effects of tobacco.

³ Deceased.

[Lewin (114) offered the classic formulation of the former concept, as Langley and Dickinson (109) are responsible for the classic statement regarding the ganglionic action of nicotine.] There is this to be added, however: doses or concentrations of nicotine of the order of those producing ganglionic (or in fact any other kind of) depression or paralysis are never involved in normal smoking by normal habitual smokers (111, p. 53), and it is primarily experiments involving such doses or concentrations which are irrelevant to the pharmacology of tobacco-use; while, on the other hand, experiments, whether on man or animals, involving what we may term "smoking" amounts of nicotine are a part, and by no means the unimportant part, of the pharmacology of nicotine.

Passing to the relationship between tobacco-use and the pharmacology of nicotine in its qualitative aspects, we may at first thought consider that since the doses of nicotine supplied in the course of normal tobacco-use are of an order of magnitude producing, or capable of producing, pharmacological effects in the individual user at least, experiments involving the use of tobacco-smoke, whether "forced" in animals or "voluntary" in man, form a valid part of the pharmacology of nicotine. This, however, does not at all follow, not only because tobaccosmoke contains many other ingredients, known and unknown, with distinct pharmacological actions of their own, but also because the dose of nicotine contained in the smoke and exerting its own particular pharmacological action within the organism is not really ascertainable, though they are often estimated. Thus, there are objections, both qualitative and quantitative in nature, to including the results of experiments with tobacco-smoke in any limited review of the pharmacology of nicotine, at least without so many qualifications that space, even more than scientific logic, forbids. There would seem to be, however, some justification for including in such a review brief mention of experiments in which the results of tobacco-smoking, voluntary or involuntary, appear to be identical to those of experiments involving equivalent doses of nicotine. In these instances, it may be tentatively concluded that the observed effects of tobaccosmoke or smoking were due essentially to the nicotine content of the smoke; however, it may never be concluded with assurance that these effects were not subtly modified (beyond the range of current recording equipment, or in ways for which no recording is currently possible or even conceivable) by tobacco-smoke constituents other than nicotine.

In summary, the pharmacology or toxicology of tobacco-smoking and the pharmacology and toxicology of nicotine are not identical, and often are not even comparable. Since we are concerned in this review with the neuropharmacology of nicotine, the results of "smoking" experiments will not, except in special circumstances, be mentioned, and then only if these *seem* to be equivalent to results obtained in controlled, quantitative experiments with nicotine. For an account of such "smoking" experiments in general and in particular, the reader is referred to the reviewers' monograph on tobacco (111), in which, incidentally, most of the neuropharmacology of nicotine up to about mid-1959 also appears, though in that deliberately non-critical fashion appropriate to a comprehensive historical review of a dynamic subject. The present critical review is designed usefully to fill the gap between the authors' "comprehensive account of the world literature" and the simple (and true) statement that the neuropharmacological action of nicotine is "stimulation, followed by depression." This "gap" may also be described in other terms as "mechanism of action"—lacking in the simple statement, buried in the monograph.

II. SPONTANEOUS ACTIVITY

A study of the effect of daily nicotine injection (5 to 7.5 mg/kg) on the activity of white rats in revolving cages revealed that the drug produced a striking decrease in voluntary activity, the extent of the drop varying with the individual animal (157). On cessation of injections, restoration of activity occurred.

The effect of single and repeated doses of nicotine on the activity of male rats in spring-suspended cages equipped for recording vibrations was reported by Kuschinsky and Hotovy (104). After 0.25 mg/kg subcutaneously, stimulation lasting one-half to two hours was recorded, the movements having the same appearance (running movements) as those following methamphetamine or caffeine. With larger (0.5 mg/kg) doses, the effect was greater and of longer duration; with smaller doses, it was less, and also the reaction of the animal was different, 0.05 mg/kg often causing an initial sedative effect for a period of about ten minutes. Following the disappearance of the stimulating effect of a dose of nicotine, a second injection again produced the same effect; no weakening of the stimulating effect was apparent in animals injected daily for several months with large doses of nicotine. The threshold dose for nicotine stimulation was found to be 1/640th of the average lethal dose of 32 mg/kg. A stimulant dose of methamphetamine followed by a stimulant dose of nicotine resulted in an additive effect.

It has been suggested that the sand-digging response of rats was a valid measure of activity (87). However, it may be questioned whether injection of 6 mg of nicotine sulfate/kg, which caused the animals to undergo a grand mal convulsion of one-half to one minute duration, following which they remained inactive for five to twenty minutes (22), demonstrated a valid pharmacological action of nicotine, rather than a non-specific, and certainly not unnatural, response to a severe convulsion induced by any means. Control injections of saline were immediately excitatory to the sand-digging activity.

An improved apparatus for measuring the motor activity of mice has recently been described by Bonta *et al.* (11), who also published a table of results obtained with their apparatus following intravenous injection of 0.18 to 0.43 mg of nico-tine/kg; this table showed graded increases in motor activity with increasing dosage.

Analysis of these activity experiments indicates that "small" doses of nicotine are stimulant to spontaneous activity, while "larger" doses are depressant. Since the central nervous system is so delicately adjusted, and so susceptible to the effects of neurotropic drugs such as nicotine, it would seem highly desirable to investigate the actions of such agents on "spontaneous activity" and other functions of the organism-as-a-whole within the range of minimal effective

: 6

dosage. In animals, as well as in man, we may surely believe that the optimal effects of neuropharmacological agents lie within this range of "minimal" dosage, not within that of "maximal" or supra-maximal dosage.

III. CONDITIONED REFLEXES

The stickleback fish is attracted by red colors, but is insensitive to yellow (9). After a period of feeding the fish red worms with a yellow forceps, merely placing a yellow forceps in the water sufficed to attract the fish. With the conditioned reflex thus established, the fish were placed for twenty-four hours in water containing 0.002 ml of nicotine/l; they were then attracted to red worms placed directly in the water, but were indifferent to the yellow forceps. After removal from the nicotine solution into normal river-water, the fish recovered their conditioned reflex one day later.

In adult and growing rats, a definite conditioned salivary reflex was said to have followed a few injections of nicotine (6). As the injections were continued, the conditioned reflex was extinguished or inhibited in the growing rats, but not in the adult animals. Evaluation of this observation does not seem possible from the few details that accompanied its description. In recent experiments using this species, Geller et al. (66), by rewarding with food those lever-pressing responses spaced twenty to twenty-two seconds apart, trained hungry rats to time precisely. No significant effect occurred until the third day following a test dose of 0.1 to 0.25 mg nicotine bitartrate/kg, at which time there appeared a flattening of the inter-response time distributions, an increase in the average response rate, and a marked decrease in the total number of re-enforcements (food rewards) obtained. At this time, the animals were observed to be somewhat agitated in the experimental chamber, but not in the home cages. No such agitation was observed on the day of drug injection. Since all, or almost all, of the radioactivity from C¹⁴-randomly-labeled nicotine administered to rats was excreted in the urine within sixteen hours (65; see also 111, pp. 19 ff.), it seems difficult to ascribe the above-reported effects to any pharmacological action of a single injection of nicotine three days previously. A more likely conclusion would seem to be that the animals were affected by some other part of the experimental procedure rather than by the nicotine per se: witness the "agitation" correlated with the "experimental chamber" but not with the "drug injection." Further support for this conclusion is afforded by experiments reported by Mercier and Dessaigne (123) on rats trained to discriminate between colors, from which it appeared that the rat adapts rapidly to initial perturbations produced by nicotine.

Novikova (134) studied the action of nicotine on conditioned reflexes in 2 dogs previously conditioned to food-reflex salivary secretion in response to the sounds of bell and whistle, to light, and to a "toucher" fixed on the left hip. Subcutaneous injections of 0.02 to 0.2 mg nicotine/kg resulted more or less in inhibition of the food-conditioned reflexes. Under normal conditions, both dogs exhibited a distinct relationship between the strength of the conditioned stimulus and its secretory effect: strong stimuli (bell and whistle) produced, as a rule, a

more intense conditioned secretion, whereas light, being the weakest stimulus used, gave a small secretion. After injection of a moderate dose of nicotine, this relationship was lost, and all stimuli gave reflexes of the same intensity. A paradoxical phase was also observed, in which physiologically weak stimuli produced a more intense effect than physiologically strong ones. Increase in the dose of nicotine always resulted in increasing inhibition, up to a total loss of conditioned food-reflexes; 0.2 mg/kg produced a strong inhibition of conditioned food-reflexes to all stimuli and also produced well-marked symptoms of nicotine poisoning. Doses of 0.1 and 0.15 mg nicotine/kg, which led to deep inhibition of conditioned reflexes, also produced an increase in the secretory response to the unconditioned stimulus of feeding; this was said to prove that these doses of nicotine exerted a stimulating influence on the centers of unconditioned reflexes. The effect of large doses of nicotine was to produce an inhibition of the functions of the cerebral cortex, and not paralysis of the "center" of salivation. Cortical inhibition increased with the dose of nicotine, leading to the equalization phase, to the paradoxical phase, and finally to total loss of conditioned food-reflexes. The inhibition of conditioned reflexes by nicotine was regarded as being due to the development of parabiosis in the cortex, or else to "extra-liminar inhibition" in Pavlov's sense of the word. Nicotine creates such a state of increased cortical excitability that physiologically strong stimuli become supramaximal; owing to this, the conditioned reflex is either absent or insignificant (paradoxical phase), and with more severe poisoning, moderate or weak stimuli also become supramaximal, and produce no effect (phase of inhibition).

IV. LEARNING

It has been reported that nicotine reduced the performance of white rats in a maze, with respect to time required to run the maze, number of errors, or both (54, 55, 56, 120, 121). The smallest effective single dose was 0.02 mg nicotine tartrate, which was said to have had a persistent effect (121), again, an observation not easily conformable to what we know of the speed and completeness of nicotine metabolism and excretion. In chronic experiments, in which the animals received daily injections of 0.05 to 1 mg nicotine subcutaneously or intraperitoneally over many months (54, 55), progressively poorer performances were observed.

In the recent study by Mercier and Dessaigne (123) of the effect of nicotine on rats trained to discriminate between colors, doses of 0.5 and 0.75 mg/kg depressed performance on the first day but not on the second. Increasing the daily dose to 1.5, and then to 2 mg/kg subcutaneously, depressed performance for the first four days, with return to normal on the fifth day of injection, while with a dose of 2.5 mg/kg, a relative tolerance was reached by the fifth week. Following a rest of fifteen days, 2 mg/kg dropped performance to zero, but recovery to 80 and 100 % occurred in the next two days; a similar result occurred with 2.5 mg/kg.

It seems possible that these effects on performance were not caused by specific interference with the learning process but can be explained by non-specific

effects on the general state of health of the animals. At least, this is a point that should be closely evaluated in the design and conduct of this type of experiment.

V. HIGHER CEREBRAL FUNCTIONS

A. Sensorimotor functions

A feature of most of the reported experiments on the effect of nicotine on functions of the sensorimotor areas is the appallingly high concentration of the nicotine solutions used, concentrations which would never be reached following systemic administration of even lethal doses; concentrations, furthermore, often sufficient to produce local (non-specific) destruction of tissue by the alkaline nicotine. Whether the results of such experiments should be accorded serious consideration is doubtful; at best, such experiments are object-lessons in "how not to do it."

Baldi (5) applied 10% nicotine to exposed motor areas of dogs, and never observed movements in limbs. Testing a motor point with minimal electrical stimulation before and after nicotine led in one case to an exaggeration of excitability and, in other experiments, to lowering of excitability. Amantea (2) applied a disc of blotting paper containing 5% nicotine directly to the cortical centers of the sigmoid gyrus of unanesthetized dogs, and found that nicotine, like morphine, picrotoxin, and strychnine, produced an initial decrease and gradual increase in the threshold of excitability, characteristic cutaneosensory modifications (hyperesthesia of given cutaneous areas), and typical motor phenomena (clonus of the muscular group corresponding to the center being tested). Moussatché (129) applied 2, 10, and 50% nicotine to loci of the motor areas in trephined unanesthetized dogs, and reported that persistent clonic contractions were produced, and that paralysis never supervened.

Rizzolo (145, 146, 147, 148) studied the effect in unanesthetized dogs of application of 1% nicotine to the surface of the cortex and on the underlying white substance; the applications were made on predetermined optimum motor points for the movement (flexion or extension) of the forelimb and movements of the eyelids, and the chronaxie was used as the measure of excitability. The initial application of nicotine to the cerebral cortex always caused a 25 to 50% decrease of the chronaxie from the control value; after the second application, the chronaxie usually continued to decrease, but occasionally there was an increase to above the control value; the third application was always accompanied by an increase in chronaxie to about double the control. Application of the nicotine to the white matter (with the overlying gray substance removed) at a motor point modified the chronaxie of that motor point; the initial application caused a decrease of 23 to 39% from the initial chronaxie value; the second application caused a 33 to 57% decrease; the third application, on the other hand, increased the chronaxie by 25 to 43%; and with the fifth application, the chronaxie increased about 86% above the original value. Application of nicotine to a part of the corona radiata about forty-five minutes after the ablation of

the overlying cortical gray substance caused in most instances the appearance of both clonus and generalized epileptiform convulsions. When the nicotinetreated gray matter was removed, the white matter underneath was found to have the same chronaxie value as did the gray matter before treatment with nicotine (146). In another somewhat similar study on dogs, A. and B. Chauchard and P. Chauchard (25) applied a solution of nicotine (1 drop in 5 ml of Ringer's solution) to the cortical motor zone for extension and flexion of the toes. The normal values for the motor chronaxies corresponding to the foot opposite the hemisphere studied were extension, 20, and flexion, 40. Following application of nicotine, the chronaxie was increased and equalized at a level of 70, but quickly dropped to the normal level, the fall corresponding to the appearance of cortical inexcitability. Weaker dilutions of nicotine (1 drop in 20 ml) also augmented cortical and peripheral chronaxies.

B. Brain potentials

The effect of nicotine on brain potentials was first seriously investigated by Libet and Gerard. The olfactory bulb of the isolated frog brain maintains a remarkably regular potential rhythm (115). This preparation bathed in 0.5%nicotine gave very regular large slow waves, although the drug paralyzed central synaptic transmission, indicating that neurones can beat and synchronize without neural stimulation. Local application of 0.5% nicotine to the exposed optic lobes in a freshly amputated frog head eliminated within six minutes visual action potentials in the optic lobes evoked by shining light in the eyes, while leaving unchanged the action potentials in the optic nerve (116). Nicotine also prevented changes in olfactory bulb potentials otherwise produced by stimulation of the olfactory nerves. The characteristic waves produced by nicotine in the isolated frog brain were prevented by the simultaneous action of iodoacetate (67, 68). Application of 0.01 to 0.5% caffeine to the isolated frog brain had as its striking action the initiation of powerful diphasic waves of 0.2-second duration, which originated mainly in the bulb, and spread over the entire hemisphere; a third wave lasting one to four seconds, and persisting when the others had disappeared, spread at about 1 cm per second; the main diphasic wave travelled 5 cm per second at 20°C. Nicotine did not block these spreading waves, but did slow their movement. Nicotine greatly altered the electrical rhythm of isolated frog brain; in 0.5% solution, the 6 per second waves were slowed to 4 per second after some three minutes, and then discontinuously to 2 or 1 per second after five to ten minutes. The amplitude was increased to 300 microvolts or more, and the wave form altered from a roughly sinusoidal one to bizarre skewed forms. Since nicotine blocks synaptic conduction and yet produces extremely regular asymmetrical waves, its action was said to afford especially strong evidence for the conclusion that the recorded potential was that of a single unit magnified by the synchronous activity of many such units. Nicotine acted very powerfully; Gerard and Libet never failed to obtain the usual potentials. even when the drug was applied to a "stale" brain, the spontaneous waves of which had largely disappeared. When combined with 0.004 M iodoacetate,

however, the action of nicotine on brain waves was completely eliminated, and the feeble rapid potentials of the iodoacetate alone appeared. Gerard and Libet (68) suggested that the action on cell potentials of nicotine, which increases lactic-acid production (4), is abolished by iodoacetate, which prevents glycolysis.

Pick and Unna (139) reported that injection of 3 to 15 mg of nicotine per kg in spinally pithed frogs caused an immediate acceleration of the brain waves from 5 or 6 to 10 or 15 per second; this phase, probably due to a stimulation of the central sympathetic synapses, lasted for about ten minutes, and was followed by a gradual decrease in the frequency of the waves; fifteen to twenty minutes later, no electrical potentials could be recorded, although the electrocardiogram remained unaltered. These findings differed from those of Gerard and Libet (68), who, as noted above, observed on the isolated frog brain an increased amplitude of the potentials, but unaltered or decreased frequency of the waves following nicotine. Pick and Unna thought it possible that this phase of "parasympathetic" stimulation of the olfactory lobes might have been masked in their own experiments by the "sympathetic" stimulation of the hemispheres of the frog. A combination of monoiodoacetic acid and nicotine shortened the phase of increased electrical activity which followed nicotine alone, and led to a more rapid decrease and disappearance of the electrical potentials than did either substance alone.

Turning now to electroencephalographic (EEG) changes in mammals, Longo and Bovet (118) reported that intravenous injection of 2 mg of nicotine bitartrate per kg into curarized rabbits under artificial respiration produced a typical EEG picture of "grand mal," particularly noticeable in the motor cortex, which was the counterpart of the tonic-clonic contractions and the muscular tremors produced by nicotine in the normal rabbit. In order to eliminate the possible influence of peripheral actions of the drug, von Berger and Longo (175) then studied the action of nicotine on the EEG using Bremer's (13) "encéphale isolé" or "isolated brain" preparation of the rabbit, while blood pressure was maintained with a slow infusion of epinephrine. The action of nicotine on the EEG of the "isolated brain" of the rabbit did not differ from that in the unanesthetized curarized rabbit described above, and corresponded to the motor manifestations in the intact animals. Following the injection of nicotine, the modifications of the EEG presented various phases in time which could be synthesized into three periods; in the first, there was a disappearance of the spindles and the other normal components of the tracing, which were replaced by waves of 25 to 30 cycles/second at low voltage in the frontal lead, and waves of 5 or 6 cycles/second at voltages close to 100 to 150 microvolts in the parietal lead. This picture lasted for 20 to 60 seconds, and then passed into the second phase (convulsive attack), which occurred as a consequence of the accentuated synchronism of the first phase; the attack appeared in the form of spikes of voltages varying from 300 to 700 microvolts, particularly evident in the parietal lead; initially, the spikes were rapid (25 to 30 cycles/second), but they gradually diminished in frequency (down to 7 cycles/second) and became mingled with

the large slow waves. The third phase was that of cerebral silence, which occurred after a period of 40 to 120 seconds, the duration of the convulsive attack; this phase might be preceded by a period in which the spikes had disappeared or were very rare, and in which the large slow waves predominated (1.5 to 2 cycles/ second, 400 to 500 microvolts). In a subsequent communication, Longo *et al.* (119) reported essentially similar results in EEG studies on 50 normal and "isolated brain" rabbits and on some cats and dogs.

According to Morocutti and Sergio (127), following intravenous injection of 2 mg nicotine/kg in rabbits, the electrocorticogram showed an initial brief phase of synchronization, followed by a discharge of "spikes" varying in voltage from 300 to 700 microvolts; in the third phase, slow waves usually appeared, averaging 2 cycles/second and 400 microvolts; finally, there might or might not be, according to the intensity of the crises, a phase of cerebral silence. The total duration of the crisis was, on the average, 120 seconds. According to Silvestrini (156), intravenous injection of 1.5 to 2.0 mg nicotine/kg in rabbits produced the following succession of phenomena: a desynchronization coming on immediately and lasting 30 to 50 seconds; a convulsive activity which reproduced fully the picture of an attack of grand mal seizures; and finally, electrical silence with more or less accentuated and irregular slow potentials. Doses of less than 1 mg/kg provoked only a prolonged desynchronization. The clonic and tonic contractions, as well as the muscular fasciculation characteristic of the motor excitation produced by 1 to 1.5 mg nicotine/kg, corresponded with theappearance in the EEG tracing of a convulsive pattern. The desynchronizing effect of nicotine was said to be due to excitation of the reticular formation, while the convulsive effect was ascribed to a general state of excitation, probably including the cortical neurones. Benactyzine and hydroxyzine did not block the nicotine desynchronization, but inhibited the convulsive activity completely in sufficient dosage. No parallelism was observed between this antagonism and the blocking of the arousal reactions from sensory (acoustic) stimulation. The effects of benactyzine and hydroxyzine on the motor reactions of nicotine were similar to those observed on the cerebral convulsive patterns. Scopolamine and atropine, although not preventing the convulsive manifestations, inhibited completely the desynchronization produced by nicotine.

Stumpf (164) has also described the actions on the EEG in rabbits. Immediately following intravenous injection of 0.5 to 3 mg nicotine/kg into awake, non-narcotized animals, changes were observed characteristic of an "arousal reaction" (regularizing and "rhythmizing" of the activity of the hippocampus). [Electrical stimulation of the brain-stem reticular formation is followed by behavioral and EEG changes of arousal in animals (128).] Subsequently, there appeared a discharge pattern, similar to that seen in convulsions, consisting of the same components as those observed in after-discharges following electrical stimulation of the hippocampus (regular types of peak discharges and multiple spike and wave complexes). At a later stage, the septum was also involved in these convulsive reactions. The first phase of the action of nicotine on the EEG could be abolished by lesions of the septum; after such lesions, the regular,

high activity of the hippocampus was replaced by a low-amplitude, high-frequency activity. Chlorpromazine (5 to 10 mg/kg) and hexobarbital (30 mg/kg) prevented the changes in the EEG initiated by nicotine, especially the convulsive discharge pattern. Scopolamine, however, was an ineffective nicotine antagonist. The action of nicotine on the EEG may be regarded as relatively specific; following injection of lobeline, cytisine, α -aminonicotine, α -aminonicotine, α amino- β '-bromnicotine, α '-amino- β '-bromnicotine, α -oxynicotine, or α '-oxynicotine, no similar activity of the hippocampus was observable. In a subsequent series of experiments, Dunlop et al. (47) investigated cortical, reticular, and hippocampal unit activity in adult male New Zealand rabbits immobilized with d-tubocurarine following intravenous injection of 3 mg nicotine bitartrate/kg. These doses induced hippocampal seizure activity in 44% of experiments, while 6 mg nicotine bitartrate/kg was 90% effective. Regularization of the EEG activity recorded from the microelectrode (*i.e.*, appearance of regular waves at 4 to 8.5 per second) occurred in 95% of all experiments. Of the three regions examined, the hippocampus had the lowest threshold for nicotine effects. Following nicotine injection, regularization of the EEG in all regions was accompanied by increased unit excitability, and, during seizures, the unit activity was depressed. Modification of neocortical and reticular unit activity, without any concomitant EEG changes in these regions, was occasionally recorded after nicotine injection. Further experiments indicated that these changes in unit activity were due to alterations in hippocampal excitation elicited by the drug. Electrical stimulation of the hippocampus, which evoked regularization and seizure discharges, similarly modified the reticular unit excitability; but no conclusive results could be obtained regarding the hippocampal influence on neocortical units.

According to Knapp and Domino (101), midpontine-transected cats and rabbits, which displayed EEG arousal in response to epinephrine and serotonin, were also found to show EEG arousal following small (10 to 20 μ g/kg) doses of nicotine. In dissociation of this effect from adrenal catecholamine release, epinephrine-insensitive prepontine-transected cats and rabbits were found to retain their sensitivity to nicotine. Furthermore, in the midpontine-transected dog, in which epinephrine and norepinephrine do not cause EEG arousal, nicotine was effective in the same low doses, while the potent ganglionic stimulant, 1,1-dimethyl-4-phenylpiperazinium iodide, in dosage of 5 to 10 μ g/kg did not cause EEG activation. Completely deafferented dog brains were prepared by pre-trigeminal transection, bilateral destruction of cranial nerves II and III, and the topical application of 2% lidocaine to the olfactory mucosa. In such preparations, nicotine still caused EEG arousal, indicating that the site of action of nicotine is within the central nervous system.

In cats anesthetized with ether, large doses of nicotine (50 mg/kg in divided doses given intravenously) failed to depress the reticular activating system (57). After the initial cardiovascular effects had subsided, the EEG voltage was somewhat lower, and the frequency higher, than before. Occasional convulsive spikes appeared. However, clear signs of further EEG activation were obtained on reticular stimulation.

2

Ochs and Hunt (135) examined the effect of nicotine and γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) on cortical transmission; the possibility that these drugs act as synaptic blocking agents in the cortex was said to be indicated by their reversible block of propagation of spreading depression (SD). This was shown in the molecular layer preparation, where SD transmission continues although all cortical layers below the first are cut through. Nicotine was placed either on the recording point while direct cortical responses (DCR) were elicited, or into a well-type of recording electrode while recording DCR. Nicotine either had no effect on the DCR, or augmented the DCR almost twofold. An increase in the DCR after nicotine application could come about by a selective block of inhibitory synapses acting on apical dendrites. Gamma-aminobutyric acid either eliminated the DCR, or reversed it, and this was related to direct application or use of the wellelectrode. This compound has been suggested as a specific blocking agent for excitatory synapses. Block of SD would then come about by block of inhibitory synapses (nicotine) or block of excitatory synapses (GABA). Alternately, nicotine may have an action on the release of or reaction to transmitter substance postulated in the "contiguity" theory of SD transmission. Gamma-aminobutyric acid could also have this effect, or more probably it acts in a generalized fashion on apical dendrites to interfere with transmission of SD and DCR.

There appear to be no reports of EEG changes in human subjects following nicotine administration in "smoking" dosage. Such investigations would be highly desirable, if only to corroborate the impression that the EEG changes observed during or following cigarette-smoking do not appear to be due to nicotine *per se*; although there is, of course, the possibility that any "pure" nicotine effects may be "covered up" by EEG changes brought about by the physical act of smoking or by other constituents of tobacco-smoke. A brief review of several recent studies on man will illustrate these points and possibilities.

Lambiase and Serra (108) recorded cortical electrical activity in 25 subjects before and after smoking one cigarette; in 80%, depression in voltage and an acceleration in frequency of the alpha rhythm were noted, but the form remained almost unchanged. These alterations were more consistent in subjects over 35 years of age, and were attributed to the double action of carbon monoxide and of nicotine, resulting in cerebral anoxia (indicated by depression of voltages) and release of epinephrine (indicated by acceleration of frequency). Electroencephalograms made by Wechsler (178) on 10 normal subjects before, during, and for ten minutes after smoking 3 regular-size cigarettes in ten minutes [oversmoking] revealed an intermittent flattening lasting one to thirty seconds. This pattern occurred only with puffing on the cigarette; however, it occurred also to a lesser degree in individuals who did not inhale, and in those smoking filtered and denicotinized cigarettes. This pattern could be an abnormal attention response, the author commented. Hauser et al. (84) studied EEG changes on cigarette-smoking in healthy young adults. An increase in the dominant alpha frequency of 1 or 2 cycles/second occurred in over 80% of the initial group, but 6 records were considered equivocal because of poorly developed alpha rhythm or marked alpha inhibition. Excluding these 6, then, 16% of smokers and 30%

of non-smokers showed no change in the dominant alpha frequency, while 84% of smokers and 70% of non-smokers did show a change. In over one-third of the subjects, the alpha frequency shifted during the initial inhalation of cigarettesmoke. All shifts occurred during the first cigarette, and once the shift occurred, it persisted without fluctuation in relation to inhalation. Opening the eyes for prolonged periods caused a temporary return to the basal state. As long as the subjects remained in the easy-chair with their eyes closed, the shift persisted (up to fifty-one minutes). Moving about for a short period would cause a return to the basal state. If the subject then smoked another cigarette, the shift would occur again. Five subjects who had shifted 1 or 2 cycles/second simulated smoking by means of a glass cigarette stuffed with cotton, and two specially prepared nicotine-free cigarettes; 4 showed some increase in alpha frequency with the glass cigarette, and all showed an increase with the low-nicotine cigarette similar to that noted with the regular cigarette. There was no evidence from data on blood pressure and pulse-rate that the effect was directly mediated by cardiovascular changes, nor did data from measurements of hyperventilation suggest that it was mediated by a lowering of blood carbon dioxide. The fact that the increase in dominant alpha frequency occurred in healthy young adults, smokers and non-smokers alike, in this series, demonstrated to the authors that smoking in some way affects the central nervous system. In their opinion, the shift would seem to represent a psycho-physiologic response related more to the act of smoking than to physiologic or metabolic effects from substances present in the cigarette smoke. Bickford (8) analyzed EEG tracings obtained in the above study, and considered that the shift in alpha rhythm was related to some concomitant action of smoking, perhaps a shift in attention, and not to the effect of any inhaled agents from the cigarette itself.

C. Tremor

Tremor is one of the more characteristic effects of nicotine in both man and lower animals (111, pp. 82 ff.). Small but effective doses of nicotine given by rapid intravenous injection to mice produced, as their first effect, tremor (162). Intravenous injections of nicotine up to 0.6 mg/kg induced only tremor in mice, whereas with higher doses tremor was rapidly followed by clonic convulsions or even by seizures of the tonic-extensor type; hence, for a study of a pure tremor effect, it has been stated that the dose of nicotine in mice should not exceed 0.5 to 0.6 mg/kg (11). Nicotine dosage for production of pure tremor undoubtedly depends on experimental conditions, e.g., strain of mouse, rate of injection, etc. In the unanesthetized rabbit, even a small (0.15 mg/kg) dose of nicotine produced fibrillary twitchings, while 0.35 caused clear-cut muscle twitching in 100% of the animals used (21). The nicotine tremor effect in other mammals has not been so thoroughly quantitated. In man, even approximately "smoking" doses of nicotine have produced muscle tremor (111, p. 471), and persons suffering from acute or fatal nicotine poisoning have in some cases displayed tremor (111, p. 473). Although nicotine has a demonstrable effect directly on skeletal muscle, nicotine tremor is undoubtedly a result of central nervous system stimulation.

Nicotine tremor has served profitably as an experimental condition for testing potential anti-Parkinsonian drugs. These tests, however, tell us little about the pharmacological action of nicotine; in them, nicotine is used solely as a pharmacological tool. For this reason, only a brief account of the effects of other drugs on nicotine tremor will be given here.

The following drugs or compounds have been reported to protect against, or to antagonize, tremor induced by nicotine in unanesthetized mammals (rabbits, unless otherwise specified), to varying degrees when administered in sufficient dosage [for bibliographic references, details, and especially qualifications the reader is referred to Larson *et al.* (111, pp. 85–88) except for authors indicated in parentheses below]:

Adiphenine, aminoketones [especially 2-piperidinoethyl phenyl ketone], amphetamine, Atremon [chromone-2-carboxylic acid] (rat), benactyzine, bicyclic derivatives of pyrrolidine (mouse), caramiphen, chlorcyclizine, decamethonium, diethazine, diethylaminoethyl ester of diphenylpropyl acetic acid, diethyl propanediol (mouse and rat), dimenhydrinate, diphenhydramine, diphenylhydantoin, ether, ethopropazine, hexamethonium, hydroxyzine, methantheline, methdilazine (117), 4-oxydiphenylethane derivatives, 4-oxystilbene derivatives, pentobarbital, phenindamine, phenothiazine derivatives [especially β -diethylaminoethyl-phenothiazine-10-carboxylate] (40), piridocaine, promethazine, pyrilamine, tetraethylammonium, trihexyphenidyl, tubocurarine, 92 G.T. [β diethylaminoethyl-2-phenyl-2-(hydrocyclopentyl) ethanoate hydrochloride], 883 F [diethylaminomethyl-3-benzodioxane], 933 F [piperidine-methyl-3-benzodioxane], 2559 F [tri(triethylammoniummethoxy)-1,6,3-benzene tri-iodide], 3015 R.P. [dimethylaminoethyl-N-dibenzo-p-thiazine].

Nicotine tremor in the unanesthetized rabbit was said to have been potentiated to some extent by the following drugs: amphetamine, epinephrine, methamphetamine, *l*-norepinephrine, phenylephrine, and phenylpropanolamine.

The following drugs and compounds have been found ineffective against nicotine-induced tremor, at least in the concentrations studied: metaraminol, nordefrine, magnesium, thiazinamium methyl sulfate, (N-ethyl, N, β -chloro-ethyl)aminomethylbenzodioxane, pavatrine, pempidine and its N-ethyl homologue, sparteine, and 3580 R.P. [diethylaminoethyl-N-dibenzo-*p*-thiazine ethyl iodine].

In addition to the above substances, the following drugs and compounds, which had been found to be active against nicotine tremor by some workers, have been reported by others to be inactive: atropine, Dibenamine, hexobarbital, mephenesin, paraldehyde, pentamethonium, phenobarbital, procaine, scopolamine, and 3015 R.P. [dimethylaminoethyl-N-dibenzo-p-thiazine].

It is probably safe to say that most, if not all, of such discrepancies are due to the different dosages employed by the different workers.

Regarding the mechanism of nicotine tremor, Langley and Dickinson (110) concluded that the effect of the drug on the skeletal muscles in mammals appeared to be entirely due to a stimulation of the central nervous system. Cahen (20) concluded from his work that, in addition to a central action, nicotine

exerted a separate and distinct peripheral effect on striated muscle. The central effect, in terms of nicotine contracture, was located by Stoyanovskii (163) in the spinal cord, while Bovet *et al.* (12) argued for a mesencephalic origin of these tremors. It is apparent from the list of antagonistic drugs given above that nicotine tremor may be blocked at several points, for example, centrally by barbiturates or peripherally by neuromuscular blocking agents.

D. Convulsions

If the dose of nicotine is sufficient, tremor is usually followed by convulsions. Fatal doses of nicotine generally cause convulsions in all mammals, but the convulsive dose of nicotine is generally understood to be that dose which induces convulsions from which the animal recovers. A table of convulsive doses of nicotine in laboratory animals has been given by Larson et al. (111, p. 50), which shows rather less consistency among the results of the several investigators than might be expected. The numbers of animals reported in most series cannot be considered sufficient. An exception is the report of Stone et al. (162), who, in a series of over 350 mice, found that intravenous injection of 0.84 mg nicotine/kg caused a 100% "clonic response," but 87% mortality. A "safer" intravenous convulsive dose in this species may be taken as 0.4 to 0.45 mg/kg (76, 100, 103). In rats, the average intravenous convulsive dose (C.D.₅₀) of 60 animals of one strain was 0.234 mg nicotine tartrate/kg, and of 40 animals of a second strain, 0.31 mg/kg (78). The intravenous convulsive dose in rabbits varied between 0.5 and 2 mg/kg; in cats, the reported dose was 1 mg/kg, and in dogs, the intravenous convulsive dose may be taken as 0.6 to 2 mg/kg (111, p. 50). Blum and Zacks (10) analyzed the relationship between nicotine-induced convulsions and mortality in male albino rats about 120 days old, and found a zero correlation for practically the entire dosage range used, apparently because nicotine may cause convulsions without implicating vital functions in a deleterious fashion.

The character of the convulsive phenomena produced in mice by intravenously injected nicotine varies considerably with the dose of nicotine. Doses up to 0.6 mg/kg induced tremor only, whereas with higher (e.g., 0.84 mg/kg) doses, the tremor was followed rapidly by clonic convulsions, and then by seizures of the tonic-extensor type (11, 162). Results with other species do not seem to have been so well quantitated.

Following administration of a convulsive or subconvulsive dose of nicotine, a subsequent convulsive dose may fail to cause convulsions (143, 150). A large number of drugs have been shown to have a greater or lesser inhibitory effect on nicotine convulsions in several species. In general, these drugs may be classified as having anesthetic, atropine-like, adrenolytic, ganglioplegic, or antihistaminic effects. Since the antagonistic effect depends on the species used, the doses of nicotine and nicotine-antagonists employed, and on the general conditions under which the experiments have been performed, the following lists should be regarded primarily as an index, and details sought in Larson *et al.* (111, pp. 47–49) or in the original papers. The following drugs have been reported to show a more or less antagonistic action against nicotine convulsions, at least under certain experimental conditions: acetylcholine, adiphenine (23, 111) and quaternary

derivatives (23), alcohol, aminoketones [especially 2-diethylaminoethyl phenyl ketone], amphetamine, atropine (76, 100, 111), azacyclonol, barbital, belladonna alkaloids (103), benactyzine, benzotropine methanesulfonate (100), 1-bicycloheptenyl-1-phenyl-3-piperidino-propene (76), 1-bicycloheptyl-1-phenyl-piperidino-propanol (76), 1-bicyclo-oxy-heptyl-1-phenyl-3-piperidino-propanol (76), butylscopolamine, caramiphen (76, 100, 111), chloral, chloralose, chlorisondamine, chlorphenoxamine (100), chlorpromazine, curare, cycrimine (100), diethazine, dihydroergotamine, diphenylhydantoin, diphenhydramine (100, 111), ethopropazine (76, 100, 111), heptamethonium, hexamethonium, hexobarbital, Hexonate [the salt of hexamethylene bis (trimethylammonium) and nicotinic acid], Histol [p-chloro- α -methyl- β -dimethyl-aminoethyl benzhydryl ether hydrochloride], hydroxyzine, hyoscyamine (103), Keithon [β -diethyl ester of chlorphenoxamine] (100), mecamylamine, mecamylamine congeners (50), mepazine (100), meperidine, mephenesin, meprobamate, methadone, methamphetamine, propyl-2-pyrindole, 1-methyl-2(1'-methylpyrrolidyl) methyl phenidate. 1-methyl-2-trimethylamino-propyl-2,9-pyrindole, morphine, orphenadrine (100), oxy-cyclohexylphenyl-acetic acid-diethylaminoethylester (76), pempidine, pempidine congeners (50), pentamethonium, pentobarbital, pentolinium, phenobarbital, pipradiol, procaine, procyclidine (100), promethazine, scopolamine, SKF 525A (β -diethylamino diphenylene propyl acetate), thiamine, thiamine propyl disulfide, tribromethanol, trihexyphenidyl (76, 100, 111), trimethadione, tubocurarine, urethane, 4.560 R.P. [chloro-3(dimethylamino-3'-propyl)-10-phenothiazine], 2559 F [tri-(triethylammoniummethoxy)-1,2,3-benzene tri-iodide], 26539 [N-ethyl homologue of 1:2:6:6-pentamethyl-piperidine].

In mice, a number of the above agents were more effective against the tonic than the clonic phase of nicotine convulsions (27, 162). Atropine, caramiphen, diphenhydramine, diphenylhydantoin, ethopromazine, mephenesin, pentobarbital, phenobarbital, trihexyphenidyl, and trimethadione, if active at all, were effective only against the tonic convulsive phase and mortality, and did not prevent the clonic response of nicotine-injected mice (162). Atropine and scopolamine, barbital, benactyzine, diphenylhydantoin, diphenhydramine, meperidine, mephenesin, meprobamate, methadone, morphine, and promethazine, all more readily abolished the tonic-extensor component of the nicotine seizure, whereas the initial clonic seizure was more efficiently abolished by promazine and chlorpromazine (26, 27).

The following drugs were found to be without effect in controlling nicotine convulsions under the conditions of the experiments: azacyclonol, chlorisondamine, hexamethonium, isethionic acid, meprobamate, 1-methyl-2-triethylaminopropyl-2,9-pyrindole, 1-methyl-2-trimethylaminoamyl-2,9-pyrindole, pentamethonium, reserpine (27, 142), riboflavin, tetraethylammonium, tetramethonium, trimethonium, and yohimbine. It was only following moderate doses of reserpine that the motor response to nicotine remained unchanged; after high doses, the response to nicotine, habitually exclusively clonic in the unanesthetized rabbit, became clonico-tonic (142). This modification of nicotine convulsions was considered to be due to a central action of reserpine.

A small number of drugs reportedly can potentiate or facilitate nicotine convul-

sions: amphetamine and methamphetamine, epinephrine and norepinephrine, isonicotinic acid hydrazide and 1-isonicotinyl-2-isopropyl hydrazide, benactyzine and hydroxyzine, and histamine.

With few exceptions, those workers who have investigated the antagonistic action of the above drugs against nicotine-induced convulsions have used as their criterion the weakening or suppression of visible seizures. In the same way, earlier (and some more recent) workers have assumed that the appearance of gross convulsions following local applications of nicotine to various areas or regions of the CNS axis (136, 148, 184), or their disappearance following nerve or CNS section at various levels, afforded a more or less valid indication of the convulsant effect of the drug (111, pp. 45–47). Although the appearance or suppression of gross, visible convulsions is a crude [and often misleading (24)] criterion of site and mechanism of action, yet all evidence points to the conclusion that the site of nicotine convulsions is the central nervous system, and not the peripheral (nervous or muscular) apparatus.

A more refined technique for the investigation of the site and character of nicotine convulsions is offered by the encephalograph, and recent use of this instrument has yielded interesting, if not conclusive, results. Some account of these experiments has been given above under Brain Potentials, and they will now be amplified as they relate more specifically to nicotine convulsions and antinicotinic, anticonvulsant drugs. It will be recalled that Longo and his associates found that nicotine produced a typical EEG picture of "grand mal" convulsions in both the unanesthetized rabbit (118) and the "isolated brain" preparation (175). Von Berger and Longo (175) noted that the convulsive syndrome from nicotine was clearly different from that produced by other convulsants, such as strychnine and pentylenetetrazol, and that its antagonists lay in a category of agents with characteristic antinicotinic properties, at both the peripheral and central levels. Ethopropazine, trihexyphenidyl, caramiphen, and diphenhydramine, which had been shown to be antagonistic to nicotine-induced tremor, likewise proved to be antagonistic to the appearance of the convulsive waves produced by nicotine; the protective action lasted about 1 hour, after which a dose of nicotine reproduced the attack in full (118). The site of the antinicotinic effect of these latter drugs was considered by Longo et al. (119) to be at the level of the reticular system, and probably involved a cholinergic mechanism. such as blocking acetylcholine activity centrally.

Silvestrini (156) also reported that nicotine fully reproduced the picture of an attack of "grand mal," the EEG tracing showing the convulsive pattern. In doses of 15 to 20 and 3 to 5 mg/kg, respectively, benactyzine and hydroxyzine completely inhibited the convulsive activity but lesser doses caused a potentiation instead of inhibition. Morocutti and Sergio (127) recorded cortical electrical activity, with results similar to those reported by Longo and his associates, and further found that the discharge of "spikes" in the second phase (convulsive attack) was antagonized by amphetamine, methamphetamine, and methylphenidate.

In the awake, non-narcotized rabbit studied by Stumpf (164), an EEG dis-

charge pattern, similar to that seen in convulsions, followed the intravenous administration of nicotine. The convulsive discharge pattern was prevented by chlorpromazine and hexobarbital, but not by scopolamine. This worker regarded the action of nicotine on the EEG pattern as relatively specific, and as apparently due to alterations in hippocampal excitation elicited by the drug (47).

Silvestrini (156) considered that the convulsive effect of nicotine was due to a general state of excitation, probably including the cortical neurones. Longo *et al.* (119) implicated the reticular substance; Stumpf (164) and Dunlop *et al.* (47), the hippocampus. Sacra and McColl (151) believed that nicotine produced its central convulsant action at the level of the diencephalon. Therefore, upper levels of the central nervous system have been broadly implicated as sites of the convulsive action of nicotine.

E. Nicotine paralysis

Early workers noted that in animals poisoned with nicotine, convulsions are followed by paralysis, resembling that produced by curare (149). Moore and Row (126) concluded from their experiments on frogs that motor paralysis was mainly due to paralysis of the intramuscular parts of motor nerves, although their experiments did not show that central action was completely absent. Von Hof and Schneider (177) stated that in the intact frog nicotine showed a distinctly central point of attack.

Yabuno (184) injected 0.01 ml of undiluted nicotine into various parts of the brain of cats, controlling the injections by means of Clarke's stereotaxic instrument, and afterwards checking the location of the nicotine so injected by histological means. Coma (limbs flaccid, corneal reflex abolished or only slight, reactions to painful stimuli nearly absent) was achieved by injections into the central gray matter at the level between the oculomotor and the trochlear nuclei inclusively, the substantia nigra, and the medial thalamic nucleus. Disturbances in consciousness were also observed in animals injected in the dorsal part of the lateral thalamic nucleus or in the hypothalamus, and in animals injected at obscure sites (probably in the ventricular system); but these parts of the brain were not authenticated. Puncture and nicotine injection in the mesencephalic reticular formation, the superior colliculus, the ventral part of the lateral thalamic nucleus, and the hypothalamus did not produce coma or semi-coma (tonus of muscles almost normal; corneal reflex and other reflexes to mechanical stimuli definitely sluggish). Also, cats injected in the medial portion of the hypothalamus reacted normally to mechanical stimuli, although they appeared to be in a state of sleep. Histologic examination showed that the morphologic change in the area injected with nicotine corresponded to that of destruction. However, the author did not decide whether the disturbance in consciousness was due to the destructive effect of nicotine (or to any equally corrosive liquid) or to its initial stimulating effect (if one can conceive, in this type of experiment, that nicotine was able to exert any characteristic pharmacologic action at all). It was assumed that in the case of nicotinization of the central gray matter of the midbrain the stimulation might be responsible for coma, while in the case of the substantia

nigra or the medial thalamic nucleus, destruction was the probable cause of coma. Sakata (152) employed a technique similar to that of Yabuno on unanesthetized cats, 0.01 ml of pure nicotine being injected at the desired site. Coma was produced by injection at such sites as the mesencephalic central gray, mediodorsal portion of the posterior hypothalamus, anterior cingulate cortex, trigonum olfactorii, etc. There was no particular change in the EEG pattern which was common to all cases and occurred in parallel to behavioral coma. The author noted the absence during coma, of generalized spindle or high-voltage, slow activities which are known to accompany sleep or usual coma. Burst activities were also observed. The main mechanism underlying the elicitation of coma and of EEG changes seemed to be the stimulant action of nicotine on the local neuronal assembly. Desynchronization of surface EEG during coma seemed likely to be due to excitation of the ascending reticular activating system or of the thalamic diffuse projection system, or both, which is caused in turn by excitation of the loci nicotinized. It was postulated that unresponsiveness occurred as a result of severe disturbance of normal functioning of the reticular system or the diffuse projection system, or both, due to abnormal or ictal excitation and post-ictal exhaustion. Inasmuch as in these studies all signs of the coma syndrome were expressed externally via efferent pathways, it was not decided whether, in the coma here reported, the higher cerebral functions were impaired by ascending effects from the lower cerebral loci nicotinized, although this possibility was held to be likely.

F. Nicotine catalepsy

Nicotine causes cataleptic rigidity in the limbs of the frog (3); this effect occurs following destruction of the spinal cord, or in the denervated limb after unilateral section of the brachial plexus (58).

In contrast to normal animals, rats or mice placed in the lateral position following subcutaneous injection of effective doses of nicotine remained there for several seconds; this was diagnosed as catalepsy (133). Gutierrez-Noriega (75) studied the catalepsy produced in dogs by intravenous injection of nicotine. The greatest percentage of animals with catalepsy, and also the intensity of catalepsy, occurred at a dose-level of 3 mg nicotine tartrate/kg; with doses above (4 and 5 mg/kg) and below (1 and 2 mg/kg) this, the percentage showing catalepsy progressively declined, and intensity was also less on either side of the optimal dosage. Catatonia produced in the dog by nicotine was found to be less specific than that produced by bulbocapnine (7); in mice, nicotine had no clearcut effect on the cataleptic state produced by bulbocapnine (161).

The whole matter of the site of action of nicotine in producing this phenomenon requires further study.

VI. MEDULLARY FUNCTIONS

A. Vomiting

Small doses of nicotine are emetic in cats and dogs, but large doses fail to cause vomiting, and are, in fact, anti-emetic (*cat*, 70; *dog*, 75). Intramuscular injection

of 1.5 mg nicotine bitartrate/kg was uniformly effective in evoking emesis in both cats and dogs within fifteen minutes (105, 106). By subcutaneous injection, the average vomiting doses were, respectively, 0.58 and 0.6 mg nicotine/kg (17). In dogs, the optimal intravenous dose was 2 mg nicotine tartrate/kg (75); a dose of 0.1 or 0.2 mg/kg never caused vomiting when given intravenously, but intracisternal injection of this dose always resulted in strong vomiting (176). The oral emetic dose of nicotine in dogs was said to be about 50 times more than the minimum intravenous emetic dose (52).

Nausea and vomiting are by far the most common symptoms and signs of acute nicotine poisoning in man (111, p. 473); even the administration of relatively small amounts of nicotine by mouth, or subcutaneous or intravenous injection, causes nausea and vomiting, particularly in those subjects not accustomed to the use of tobacco (98, 112, 125, 159). Effective doses fall in the range of 1.5 to 12 mg subcutaneously and 5 to 16 mg by mouth; by comparison, the amount of nicotine derived from the ordinary smoking of a cigarette is about 2 mg.

In cats, large and repeated doses of nicotine resulted in the disappearance of the emetic effect (70); in dogs, repeated injections of nicotine gave no indication of the development of tachyphylaxis for the emetic action (18, 19). These divergent results may be due not to species differences, but rather to differences in dosage, the relatively small doses used by Busse and Lendle (18, 19) probably exerting only a central effect, and the relatively large doses employed by Gold and Brown (70) causing, in addition, partial motor paralysis and thus concealing the central effects. In man, some degree of tolerance to the emetic effect of nicotine develops in habitual smokers, since they do not show the well-known nausea and vomiting exhibited by the novice smoker. This tolerance, however, must be relatively slight, since an increase in "dosage" of cigarettes or cigars or even abnormally rapid consumption of tobacco, may lead to nausea and vomiting even in habituated smokers.

Barbital did not abolish the emetic action of nicotine in cats (70), but this may have been due to insufficient dosage; Cheymol and Quinquaud (33) found that intravenous injection of the barbiturate preparation, Somnifène, blocked nicotine emesis in dogs in dosage of 0.3 to 0.4 ml/kg, while 0.2 ml/kg was not effective. Chloralose suppressed the emetic action of nicotine in dogs (31). Chlorpromazine (105, 106, 107) and fluphenazine, perphenazine, and triflupromazine offered no significant protection against the emetic effects of nicotine (107). The emesisinhibiting effect of relatively small doses of azamethonium was attributed by Busse and Lendle (18, 19) to a central nervous antagonism.

Reports on the efficacy of atropine in inhibiting nicotine emesis are contradictory. According to some writers, atropine showed an inhibitory effect (32, 51); according to others, atropine was ineffective (82, 105, 106). Nicotine emesis was inhibited in dogs by N-butylscopolammonium bromide, an atropine-like compound (18).

With respect to sympatholytic drugs, ergotamine tartrate lessened or abolished the emetic action of nicotine (30, 81); yohimbine suppressed the nicotine emetic effect (29); Dibenamine was ineffective (18).

Ganglionic blocking agents, such as tetraethylammonium (18, 105, 106) and hexamethonium (105, 106), were effective in blocking nicotine emesis, as was azamethonium (18, 19).

Nicotine did not abolish the emetic action of apomorphine in cats, indicating to Hatcher and Weiss (83) that it did not markedly depress the vomiting center. Although Eggleston and Hatcher (52) had concluded that the emetic action of nicotine was central, Hatcher and Weiss (82) modified this by proposing that nicotine increased the excitability of the vomiting center, and afferent impulses coming to it from the heart then induced vomiting. Hatcher (80) stated that "very small amounts of nicotine increase the reflex excitability of the vomiting center to which they are applied directly, but they cause emesis by their peripheral (cardiac?) action after their intravenous injection": Hatcher and French (81) felt it probable that large doses of nicotine also acted peripherally to induce vomiting. More recently, the site of emetic action of nicotine (and lobeline) has been reconsidered by Laffan and Borison (105, 106) in the light of the current concept that centrally acting emetic agents do not act directly on the vomiting center. Two basic experimental approaches to the problem of localization were utilized, namely, ablation of the emetic chemoreceptor trigger zone (CT zone) in the area postrema of the medulla oblongata, and selected interruption of trunk afferents without impairment of the motor function of vomiting. Strongest support for the CT zone as the emetic receptor site comes from experiments on dogs. In these animals, ablation of the medullary emetic CT zone sufficed for protection against the emetic effect of nicotine and lobeline. In cats, however, the alkaloids were found to act at a peripheral locus as well as at the CT zone. Thus, in order to prevent the vomiting response in cats, it became necessary to perform the combined procedures of spinal deafferentation, mid-cervical vagotomy, and CT zone ablation; this combination was accomplished either by interrupting peripheral nerves directly, along with ablating the CT zone, or by making a broad medullary lesion which appeared to destroy concomitantly both the CT zone and centripetal emetic pathways.

B. Respiration

The classical sequence of respiratory events following administration of nicotine to dogs, cats, and rabbits (on which species the most detailed investigations have been carried out) may be described as an initial brief arrest of respiration, followed in turn by stimulation (increased rate and, generally, depth), a secondary, prolonged period of apnea, depression (slower and more shallow, irregular, or Cheyne-Stokes breathing), and eventually, with lethal doses, by cessation of respiratory movements and ultimate central paralysis. Respiratory failure in nicotine poisoning has been demonstrated unequivocally by Thomas and Franke (167, 168), Franke and Thomas (62), Franke (59), Gold and Brown (70), and Gold and Modell (71) to be due to peripheral curare-like paralysis of the respiratory muscles, during which the respiratory center continues to function, as revealed in cross-circulation experiments (59) and study of phrenic-nerve potentials (71). With the other events of the respiratory picture following nico-

156

1 8

tine, however, the respiratory center appears to be involved, either directly or via nicotine action on the afferent branches of the respiratory reflexes. It is unnecessary in this review to do more than list these reflexes from nicotine-sensitive chemoreceptors, which are known or suspected to lie in the carotid body (reviewed by Heymans, 89), aorta (35, 131), auricles (45), lungs (41, 42), spleen (28), and even ear (124). Non-chemoreceptor reflexes also may be involved in the respiratory effects of nicotine, for example, from pulmonary deflation receptors via vagal afferent fibers (137), from the tongue via the sublingual nerve (170), and from the ear via the great auricular nerve (113). The inhibitory reflex from the nose excited by inhalation of tobacco-smoke (63, 79, 99) is not a specific nicotine effect; however, the apnea and respiratory stimulation and depression observed in animals following inhalation of tobacco-smoke is probably largely due to the nicotine content of the smoke, since such changes do not appear on inhalation of smoke from a plant other than tobacco (44).

Following the injection of nicotine into anesthetized dogs, respiration showed an initial short expiratory arrest, then a brief acceleration, followed by a second expiratory apnea lasting as long as two minutes (43, 46, 85, 155); this second apnea had been originally named "nicotine apnea" by de Almeida (43), but many succeeding writers have used the term indistinguishably for both periods of respiratory arrest, so that it is now desirable to speak of "primary" and "secondary" nicotine apnea. In anesthetized cats given nicotine intravenously, an immediate prolonged expiration occurred (46, 71, 155); this species was said not to show a secondary nicotine apnea (85), but Domaye (46) reported that a secondary expiratory apnea was also demonstrable in cats anesthetized with urethane. The appearance of secondary nicotine apnea is more consistent in anesthetized than in non-anesthetized animals (43). In rabbits also brief respiratory arrest has been observed immediately following intravenous injection of nicotine (130); this primary nicotine apnea is inspiratory, however, although the secondary apnea, when it appeared, was expiratory (46).

Domaye (46) has made a detailed analysis of both primary and secondary nicotine apnea. In dogs, cats, and rabbits, the primary apnea produced by nicotine failed to appear after bilateral vagotomy at the cervical level. When the same dose of nicotine was injected into the left ventricle, the primary apnea did not occur, leading to the conclusion that it is chiefly, if not entirely, a reflex, probably from the lung, with the afferent path running via the vagus nerve. Experiments by Takasaki et al. (165a, b) appeared to localize the receptors for nicotine apnea in the lungs, and specifically between the pulmonary-artery bifurcation and the pulmonary vein. Many other writers have reported that primary nicotine apnea is abolished by vagotomy (41, 43, 72, 73, 86, 182). Bilateral vagotomy just below the hilus of the lung, however, did not affect nicotine apnea, although bilateral vagotomy above the hilus did abolish this effect (165b). The central component of primary nicotine apnea has been variously interpreted. J. F. Heymans and C. Heymans (96) concluded from crosscirculation experiments that the condition was due to a paralysis of the respiratory center. Takasaki et al. (165a,b), however, who also used the Heymans'

technique, concluded that nicotine apnea was not due to a direct effect of nicotine on the respiratory center, but rather, as indicated above, to an effect on receptors distributed in the area of the pulmonary artery. Since application of nicotine to the floor of the fourth ventricle of anesthetized dogs invariably produced an instantaneous cessation of respiration with the chest in the expiratory position, Nicholson and Sobin (132) concluded that nicotine apnea was probably the result of stimulation of some expiratory mechanism, either direct excitation of an expiratory "center" or the facilitation of afferent impulses tending to bring about expiration. The idea that nicotine apnea was due to stimulation and not depression was supported according to Nicholson and Sobin, by the simultaneous sharp decrease in pulse rate, probably the result of stimulation of the cardioinhibitory center. The exceedingly brief latent period of the nicotine apnea was said to make it improbable that any extramedullary factors were involved. The complete cessation of phrenic nerve-potential discharges during nicotine apnea led Gold and Modell (71) and Domaye (46) to conclude that the apnea represented complete expiratory arrest (i.e., expiratory apnea); but Nagasaki (130), who also recorded action-currents of the phrenic nerve following intravenous injection of nicotine in rabbits, found that the brief respiratory arrest immediately following the injection was a "hyperphoeic apnea" due to extreme stimulation of the respiratory center; the diaphragm, receiving continuous impulses from the center, fell into a tonic contractive state. (In explanation, it will be recalled that this apnea in the rabbit is inspiratory, but in the dog and cat, expiratory.)

After bilateral vagotomy and denervation of the carotid-sinus area, both the primary nicotine apnea and respiratory stimulation by nicotine disappeared, leaving only the secondary nicotine apnea unaffected (46). When, in addition, the spinal cord was transected just below the origin of the phrenic nerves, and both phrenic nerves severed, the animals being maintained under artificial respiration, nicotine still caused the secondary apnea, as revealed by the phrenic action-current. This was taken by Domaye (46) to suggest a central origin of the secondary apnea. Secondary nicotine apnea was unaffected by vagal stimulation (43) and not prevented by vagal section (43, 86). It would appear, however, that the mechanism of secondary nicotine apnea is still not thoroughly worked out.

There seems little doubt that nicotine may also exert its classical action stimulation, followed by depression—directly on the respiratory "center" (or "centers"), although, because of lack of data, it is difficult, if not impossible, at this time to integrate most of the respiratory pharmacology of nicotine with current concepts in respiratory physiology. Application of nicotine to the vagal nucleus in the medulla of cats (77) or to the floor of the fourth ventricle (70) caused pronounced respiratory stimulation; but Comroe (36) has pointed out that injection of drugs into the fourth ventricle is not equivalent to localized injections into the medulla, and that it is probable that systemic absorption takes place more readily than penetration through the 5 mm of nervous tissue separating the respiratory center from the surface of the brain stem. Using the Horsley-Clarke stereotaxic instrument, this last worker injected 1 to 5% nicotine directly into the region of the respiratory center in anesthetized cats, and reported that weak stimulation of respiration occurred with only 4 of 45 injections.

Another type of experiment demonstrating a direct stimulation of the respiratory center is that in which the respiratory effects of small and large doses of the drug are tested in animals with the carotid sinus nerves intact or severed. Small doses of nicotine produce marked stimulation of respiration in animals with intact sinus nerves, but not following bilateral section of the nerves; with large doses, however, the stimulating effect was approximately equal, whether or not the sinus nerves were intact, and it seems reasonable to conclude that doses of this size act directly on the respiratory center (1, 88, 183). Stimulation of the respiratory center seemed especially marked in the decerebrate animal (154, 183).

Central paralysis of the respiratory center (or centers) as a late result of nicotine has been demonstrated in cross-circulation experiments by Franke (59), J. F. Heymans and C. Heymans (96), and Houssay and Hug (97). But the peripheral curare-like paralysis of the respiratory muscles invariably occurs before central respiratory paralysis or failure (168).

To sum up the respiratory pattern of nicotine: low doses cause reflex hyperpnea via the carotid and aortic bodies; higher doses result in direct stimulation of the respiratory center; lethal doses effect peripheral curare-like paralysis of the respiratory muscles; and extremely high doses result in paralysis of the respiratory center.

C. Vasomotor functions

The term "center," as currently used, implies a functional rather than an anatomical unit—one in which impulses from a variety of sources are integrated. Reference is commonly made to functional divisions of the vasomotor center, *i.e.*, the vasoconstrictor, vasodilator, venomotor, cardio-accelerator, and cardio-inhibitory centers, but these subdivisions appear to have no anatomical counterpart. They are terms of convenience in the description of aspects of its motor effects (H. E. Hoff in Fulton, 64).

Cross-circulation experiments in dogs made it clear that nicotine may stimulate the cardio-inhibitory center directly (95, 96, 97), although this direct central mechanism is far less sensitive than the carotid body reflex mechanism by which nicotine also provokes cardiac slowing (90, 91, 92). These same cross-circulation experiments indicated that nicotine has an intense and very prolonged excitant action on the vagal center; and since, in the intact animal, cardiac inhibition from nicotine is fleeting, the suggestion was made by J. F. Heymans and C. Heymans (96) that the effects of prolonged excitation of the vagal center are rapidly suppressed by a peripheral vagal paralysis. At the stage of peripheral vagal paralysis, the center is still excitable by a second dose of nicotine. While the peripheral vagal slowing is abolished by atropine (Truhart, 169, among many others), central atropinization has no effect on the bradycardia due to nicotine stimulation of the vagal center (95, 96). Doses of nicotine sufficient to block the peripheral autonomic synapses and myoneural junctions did not block the transmission of the carotid sinus baroceptive reflexes in the vagal cardio-inhibitory

center, or suppress the reactions of the center to the direct stimulating effect of acute ischemia (94). Injection of much higher doses of nicotine may block the response of the cardio-inhibitory center to further injections of nicotine, and decrease or suppress the response of the center to the stimulation by acute ischemia; but synaptic conduction in the center to reflex carotid sinus or aortic baroceptive stimulation is still present. Very high doses of nicotine ultimately block the response of the vagal center to reflex and direct stimulation; such doses are very large, and enormously higher than the amount necessary to block ganglionic transmission and excitability. These observations indicate that nicotine does not interfere with the essential processes of synaptic conduction and excitability in the cardio-inhibitory vagal center. Further evidence of an effect of nicotine on the cardio-inhibitory center is afforded by the observation that nicotine bradycardia is prevented by central nervous depressants (72, 73, 141) and deep narcosis (14).

The action of nicotine directly on the cardio-accelerator (sympathetic) center is by no means as clear-cut as in the case of the cardio-inhibitory (parasympathetic) center. Indeed, early opinions (e.g., 34, 169) that nicotine may stimulate the accelerator (sympathetic) apparatus centrally were based not so much on genuine evidence as on more or less incomplete processes of deduction. Minimally effective doses appear to cause tachycardia reflexly through stimulation of chemoreceptors in the aortic and carotid bodies, while larger doses also stimulate the sympathetic ganglia and the adrenal medulla (72, 73). From the data available, it is impossible to estimate the comparative sensitivity to nicotine of the cardioinhibitory and cardio-accelerator centers; but taking the parasympathetic and sympathetic systems as a whole, the accelerator apparatus appears to be more sensitive to nicotine than the inhibitory system, which is perhaps the explanation why smoking generally leads to some increase in heart rate in man (111, p. 147).

As with the cardio-accelerator center, there is very little, if any firm evidence concerning an action of nicotine directly on the vasodilator center in the medulla. The initial hypotension preceding the characteristic pressor effect of nicotine was attributed by Velich (174) to stimulation of the vasodilator center, and by von Brücke and Kaindl (176) to central stimulation of the depressor mechanism. Ranson *et al.* (140), however, considered that the vasodilator center was not directly involved in nicotine hypotension.

The vasodilator center may be stimulated reflexly by nicotine action on depressor afferent fibers under conditions that appear to be free of concomitant change in heart rate. Thus, nicotine elicits a depressor reflex from somewhere in the vascular bed supplied by the left circumflex coronary artery in the dog (180, 181) and from afferent fibers in the hind limb of the cat (15). A depressor reflex excited by nicotine and involving chemoreceptors in the rabbit ear also has been described (113, 124).

Nicotine hypertension may be produced by direct stimulation of the medullary vasoconstrictor center. However, experiments like those in which nicotine has been injected into the cerebrospinal fluid bathing the medulla (174, 176), producing marked rises in blood pressure more promptly than appeared to be

1

explicable on the basis of diffusion into the peripheral circulation, furnish at best only suggestive evidence of a direct effect of the drug on the vasoconstrictor center.

In any event, the sensitivity to nicotine of the vasoconstrictor center by direct stimulation by the drug is far less than to reflex stimulation. For example, in dogs, a 1.0 mg dose of nicotine was necessary to produce a vasomotor action of central origin, compared to 0.0001 mg injected into the arterial supply to the carotid body (93). Nicotine also stimulates the vasoconstrictor center via pressor afferent fibers other than those from the carotid sinus area: via receptors in the auricles (45), the aortic body (72, 73), and perhaps in the spleen (28); a pressor reflex via the sublingual nerve (170) and, no doubt, others from other afferent nerves (see H. E. Hoff, in Fulton, 64, op. cit., p. 767). "Whatever their source and route to the vasomotor centers, the impulses appear to work their effects by stimulation of the 'pressor' and inhibition of the 'depressor' centers" (H. E. Hoff, loc. cit.).

VII. CEREBELLAR FUNCTIONS

Stefantsov *et al.* (160) found that application of a tampon soaked in 0.5 to 10% nicotine solution to the cortex of the cerebellum, or injection of 1 to 2.5 mg nicotine 1 to 2 mm deep into the exposed cerebellum of cats, resulted as a rule in immediate complete disappearance of contraction of the nictitating membrane following cervical sympathetic stimulation. When disappearance of contraction was immediate, recovery occurred in 8 to 10 minutes. The authors concluded that the cerebellum is concerned not only with control of somatic functions but also takes part in autonomic regulation. These results are difficult to interpret; while it has been shown that electrical stimulation of sympathetic discharge to the pupil and nictitating membrane, these effects are undoubtedly produced at a central, rather than a peripheral level (Moruzzi, 127a, pp. 87–93). In view of the large amount of nicotine employed, it seems possible that sufficient may have been absorbed systemically to produce ganglionic blockade.

Spillane (158) has reported that intravenous injection of 2 to 3 mg of nicotine acid tartrate noticeably increased the ataxia in patients with spinocerebellar ataxia who complained of the adverse effects of tobacco-smoking on their disability. The author suggested that this effect might be brought about by some action of nicotine on the central nervous system involving disturbance of synaptic transmission of nerve impulses. A recent reviewer has remarked that we possess practically no reliable facts about the effect of nicotine on the cerebellum, the brain stem, and the spinal cord in man (173, p. 158).

VIII. SPINAL FUNCTIONS

A. General observations

It has often been reported that the action of nicotine on the spinal cord consists of a stage of stimulation, followed by a stage of paralysis (111, p. 71).

But Franke and Denvir (61) concluded from their work that the spinal depressant action of nicotine, if it occurs at all, had been greatly overestimated in the literature. The apparently contradictory reports in the literature were thought to be probably largely due to the conditions under which the experiments were carried out: general anesthesia was usually used, and the species of animal employed and the dose of nicotine administered varied widely (60).

Bülbring and Burn (16) devised a system whereby one circulation of perfusing blood supplied the spinal cord, and a second supplied the muscles. In dogs so prepared, with the spinal cord divided in the lower thoracic region to avoid the influence of the higher centers, injection of 0.2 mg nicotine acid tartrate into the cord circulation, following prior injection of physostigmine or neostigmine, caused a discharge of impulses from the spinal cord, which were recorded as contractions of the quadriceps or tibialis anterior muscles. Nicotine did not cause spontaneous contractions unless either of these anticholinesterase agents had been given previously.

Application of 2% nicotine to the ventral surface of the spinal cord of the dogfish (*Scylliorhinus canicula* L. Gill) had no effect on the chronaxie (measurement made on the ventral surface), but initial application of the drug to the dorsal surface caused a 30 to 75% decrease in the chronaxie from its original value (144). After the fourth application, however, the chronaxie was elevated to about 200% of its original value (measurements made on the dorsal surface). When nicotine in a concentration of 3 drops per 100 ml of saline solution was brought into contact with the exposed spinal cord of the frog in the region of the emergence of the lumbar nerves, the chronaxie of the centripetal (afferent sensory) nerve underwent no appreciable change, but the excitability of the cord was modified, the voltages being elevated and the curve raised a little on the abscissa axis (122). This was the reverse of the effect obtained with morphine.

Nicotine does not appear to have the blocking effect on synaptic transmission in the spinal cord that it shows on sympathetic ganglia and neuromuscular junctions (171, 172). According to Takagi and Oomura (165), the reflex activity of the isolated spinal cord of the bullfrog (Rana catesbeiana) was facilitated in a bath of 0.01% nicotine, but depressed and abolished by 0.1%. In the cat under artificial respiration, as little as 2 mg nicotine intravenously produced a slight depression of reflex activity and increasing dosage up to 150 mg/kg [lethal dose = ca. 2 mg/kg caused further depression but failed to block completely reflex activity. However, topical application of 1% nicotine to the cord did produce block. Intracellular recording from both frog and cat motor neurones showed no change in the synaptic potential after application of nicotine, but the spike appeared after a shorter synaptic delay, and one or more additional spikes appeared. When the synaptic delay became sufficiently short, however, all spikes suddenly disappeared, leaving the still unchanged synaptic potential. Occasionally, the synaptic delay was again increased just before the spike potentials disappeared. Nicotine first increased, and then decreased, excitability of the frog motor neurone. Takagi and Oomura concluded from these studies that high concentrations of nicotine block synaptic transmission in the central nervous system, acting on the cell body, but not on the synaptic potential. Gualtierotti (74) concluded from experiments on "spinal" frogs that the observed depressant action of nicotine was due to an induced local blocking of neurones; Peters *et al.* (138), from their experiments on the salamander (*Triturus viridescens*), suggested that nicotine acts intermittently on anterior horn cells of the spinal cord and associated motor units.

B. Spinal reflexes

In frogs, reflex activity is enhanced by small doses of nicotine, or as an initial effect of larger ones. The galvanic reflex is weakened or completely suppressed by nicotine when it is still impossible to recognize motor paralysis (177). In frogs poisoned with nicotine, a progressive decrease in reflex activity occurs: the corneal reflex disappears first, followed by reflexes from stimulating the skin of the head, forelegs, body and, finally, hind legs; eventually, all reflexes disappear (110). Using suitable techniques (e.g., the Claude Bernard preparation), however, spinal reflexes may be obtained in frogs in which peripheral paralysis (neuromuscular block) has been produced by nicotine (61, 126, 177). A more detailed account of the effect of nicotine on various reflex activities in several sorts of frog preparations is given by Larson *et al.* (111, p. 72 ff.).

In mammals (cats, dogs), nicotine depresses or abolishes the patellar tendon reflex (knee-jerk) (16, 39, 53, 60, 102, 154, 166, 171, 172, 179). In studies by Schweitzer and Wright (154), increase in the knee-jerk was not apparent at any stage of the response or with any size of dose, but the reflex declined at a rate which varied with the dose. Decerebrate animals proved more resistant to the inhibitory action of nicotine than animals under chloralose, probably because the anesthetic facilitated the depressant action of nicotine. Further experiments by Schweitzer and Wright led them to conclude that nicotine inhibited the patellar reflex by a direct action on the spinal cord; this was confirmed by Werner et al. (179), who also found that electrical stimulation of the region of the reticular formation interrupted the inhibition of the patellar reflex by nicotine for the duration of the stimulus. According to Ginzel et al. (69), the abolition of the inhibiting effect of nicotine on the patellar reflex through electrical stimulation of the facilitatory area of the reticular formation of the diencephalon could be observed only when the doses of nicotine used were not much higher than those which just caused a complete elimination of the patellar tendon reflex. The inhibitory effect of nicotine on this reflex was not prevented by hexamethonium, diethazine, mephenesin, or guaiacol glyceryl ether (Myocaine) (69) or by atropine (16); it was, however, counteracted by a large dose of acetylcholine (16), by strychnine (69), and by caramiphen, guaiacol glyceryl ether (166), and Parathion (O,O-diethyl O-[4-nitrophenyl] phosphorothioate, E 605) (53). The nicotine inhibition was also counteracted by passage of a 5- to 10-milliampere direct current through the quadriceps muscle in such a way that the anode was applied near the tendon and the cathode in the inguinal region (69).

A number of investigators have compared the effect of nicotine on the monosynaptic patellar reflex with its effect on polysynaptic reflexes (homolateral

flexor, contralateral extensor reflexes). Regardless of the experimental techniques employed (for which the reader is referred to the original articles), all results agree in demonstrating that nicotine diminishes or abolishes the patellar reflex, while the flexor reflex is relatively unaffected or even enhanced by the drug (16, 39, 53, 60, 102, 153, 166, 171, 172, 179).

According to van Harreveld and Feigen (171, 172), in cats under artificial respiration, with reflex action potentials being led off from the ventral roots of L-7 or S-1 while stimulating the homolateral dorsal root at the same segment level, injection of 5 mg nicotine/kg into the carotid artery suppressed the kneejerk by central action, while the flexor reflex was suppressed by larger (ca. 20 mg/kg) doses of nicotine due to the peripheral curare-like action of this drug. The monosynaptic spike of the reflex action potential was depressed or abolished by nicotine in small doses, but reappeared after the administration of large (100 to 200 mg/kg) amounts of the drug. The multisynaptic activity was much less affected by nicotine; the changes were qualitatively similar to those of the knee-jerk, however. In preparations in which the peripheral curare-like effect of nicotine was prevented by establishing a separate circulation in the hind leg, it could be shown that the monosynaptic activity observed after large doses of nicotine was the equivalent of a myotatic reflex activity (knee-jerk) in the unpoisoned state. The depressing effect of nicotine in small doses on the kneejerk was thought by these workers to be due probably to a side-action. On the other hand, Taugner and Culp (166) assumed that nicotine in threshold doses led, above all, to excitation of interneurones; and they suggested that the paralysis of the patellar reflex was possibly brought about in part by excitation of interneurones of higher order which exerted an inhibitory reaction on this reflex. This latter explanation was accepted by Erdmann and Schaefer (53).

Curtis et al. (39) reported pharmacological studies on spinal reflexes in cats under light pentobarbital anesthesia, with all lumbar dorsal roots either cut or crushed. Following injection of 0.025 mg nicotine essentially into the lumbar arteries, the testing monosynaptic reflex in L-7 and S-1 segments was almost invariably transiently depressed; polysynaptic reflexes were simultaneously depressed; monosynaptic reflexes of both flexor and extensor motor neurones were also depressed. This depression was thought to be due to the transient excitation of a special group of interneurones, the Renshaw cells, lying in the ventromedial region of the ventral horn of the spinal cord, which are known to be cholinergically activated from the motor axon collaterals, and which exert a powerful inhibitory action on motor neurones (see also 37, 38, 48, 49).

According to Koll and Schütz (102), there is much evidence which proves the presence of cholinergically activated elements in the central nervous system, the action of which is increased by the influence of anticholinesterase drugs. The rise of reflex discharges under the influence of these substances is interpreted as a consequence of increase of acetylcholine at cholinergic synapses and the action of acetylcholine at these synapses has been called a "nicotinic" one. These authors therefore felt it would be of interest to investigate whether nicotine itself has a similar effect on these cholinergic elements; for this purpose, experi-

3

ments were performed on several reflex systems of low-spinal cats. Reflex discharges were elicited by electrical stimulation of (a) the afferent α -fibers of the gastrocnemius nerve and of the nerve to the flexor-hamstring group; (b) the afferent, higher threshold A-fibers of the same nerves; (c) the afferent α - γ -fibers of the sural and superficial peroneal nerves; (d) the afferent post- γ -fibers, and (e) the afferent C-fibers of the latter. Records were taken from the homolateral L-7 or S-1 ventral root. In another series of experiments, the mechanically elicited knee-tendon jerk, and the homolateral flexor reflex (elicited by electrical stimulation of the superficial peroneal nerve), were recorded myographically. In dose-ranges of 0.04 to 4 mg nicotine bitartrate/kg, intravenously, only depression of all investigated reflex-discharges occurred; increases were never observed. Monosynaptic reflex-discharges were much more diminished than polysynaptic ones. Also, the polysynaptic nociceptive reflex-discharges, elicited by stimulation of afferent post-y- and C-fibers, were only depressed, and the knee-tendon jerk and homolateral flexor reflex were never augmented by the action of nicotine, but were regularly diminished. The authors concluded from these results that it does not seem possible to speak in general terms of a "nicotinic" action of acetylcholine in the central nervous system. They considered that discrepancies between the depression of monosynaptic reflexes by nicotine and acetylcholine, and their augmentation by anticholinesterase drugs, need further investigation, as does the much weaker depressive action of nicotine on polysynaptic reflexes.

IX. SUMMARY

In general, small doses of nicotine have a stimulating action on the central nervous system whereas large doses depress. However, studies of the central nervous actions of nicotine have not yet fully established confident correlations of the action of this drug with central levels. For this reason it has not been possible to consider its actions on the basis of a strictly neuroanatomical outline.

Mammalian studies also indicate that conditioned reflexes may be inhibited by nicotine. It does appear that nicotine abolishes the relationship between the strength of the conditioned stimulus and the response, for example, salivation. Increasing the dose of nicotine results in progressive inhibition, culminating in total loss of conditioned food reflexes. While the mechanism of action of nicotine upon conditioned reflexes has been speculated upon in the literature, there is presently no certainty as to whether a specific site or mode of action is involved or whether one is dealing here with a general depressant effect upon animal behavior as a whole. In some experiments, nicotine caused marked inhibition of conditioned reflexes with increase of secretory responses to the unconditioned stimulus of feeding. This has been held to prove that certain doses of nicotine have a stimulating influence on the centers of unconditioned reflexes. Thus, it has been said that the effect of large doses of nicotine is to inhibit cerebral cortical function and not cause paralysis of the "center" of salivation. Although suggestive of the need for further investigation and the line which such investigations might take, these studies do not help greatly in localizing the neurophysiological mechanisms involved.

With respect to learning experiments in animals, a somewhat similar unsatisfactory situation exists. Nicotine appears to reduce the performance of white mice in a maze, with regard to both running time and errors in acute and chronic experiments. However, these effects on performance are probably not due to any specific interference with the learning process itself but may be explained on the basis of non-specific effects upon the general health of the animal. There does not yet seem to be any conclusive evidence, either in animals or in man, of a specific effect of nicotine upon learning.

As has been pointed out, a feature of the reported experiments on the effect of nicotine upon sensorimotor functions is the very high concentrations of nicotine solutions used in topical applications to the brain surface or local injections within the brain. These concentrations were so high that they could never be reached by systemic administration of even lethal doses; moreover, the concentrations were often sufficiently high to produce local non-specific tissue necrosis at the site of application. Therefore, it is doubtful that these experiments on sensorimotor functions gave results that offer indication of the actual pharmacological action of nicotine.

It has been found that visual action potentials in the optic lobes evoked by flashing lights in the eyes in frogs are abolished within a few minutes by local application of nicotine to the exposed optic lobes. These studies and the others that have been reviewed indicate the breadth of possible fields of study of the effects of nicotine upon brain potentials. Turning to electroencephalographic changes in mammals, nicotine administration causes typical "grand mal" seizure patterns if sufficiently large doses are given. Smaller doses appear to cause only prolonged desynchronization. With somewhat larger doses, there may be tonic and clonic contractions as well as muscular fibrillation and the appearance in the EEG tracing of convulsive patterns. Very likely the desynchronizing effect of nicotine is due to excitation of the reticular formation. The convulsive effect has been ascribed to a general state of excitation, probably including cortical neurones. With even larger doses, EEG changes characteristic of an arousal reaction are obtained. With regard to the electroencephalographic changes in the human subject associated with cigarette-smoking, namely an increase in the dominant alpha rhythm, it appears that this is the result of psycho-physiologic changes relative to the act of smoking rather than to physiologic or metabolic effects from specific substances present in cigarette-smoke.

Tremor, one of the highly characteristic effects of nicotine both in man and in lower animals, is undoubtedly a result of central nervous stimulation, although nicotine does have a demonstrable effect directly upon skeletal muscle. Tremor is usually followed by convulsions in animals if the dose of nicotine is sufficient. The site of the convulsive action of nicotine has been variously localized. For example, it has been argued that the antinicotinic effect of ethopromazine and other drugs is at the level of the reticular substance and probably involves a cholinergic mechanism, such as blocking acetylcholine actions centrally. It has been held also that the convulsive action of nicotine is due to alteration in hippocampal excitability, or that it acts at the level of the diencephalon, or that the convulsive effect is due to a general state of excitation probably including cortical levels. The upper levels of the central nervous system are probably broadly implicated as sites of the convulsive action of nicotine.

With regard to the paralysis which is seen to follow the convulsions in experimental nicotine poisoning, mechanisms similar to those involved in convulsions seem to be present. The site of action of nicotine in causing catalepsy has not been identified with certainty and further study of this matter is required.

As to medullary functions, it has been stated that we possess practically no reliable facts about the effects of nicotine on the brain stem (or the cerebellum or spinal cord) in man. Nausea and vomiting are the most common symptoms and signs of acute nicotine poisoning in man, and the localization of the emetic action of nicotine has been the subject of considerable study. Small doses of nicotine are emetic while large doses fail to cause vomiting and in fact may even be anti-emetic. As to the site of the emetic action, investigations in animals in general indicate that central as well as peripheral factors are involved. Small doses of nicotine applied topically to the vomiting center increase its reflex excitability. However, it may be that nicotine does not act directly upon the vomiting center in exerting its emetic action. Ablation of the emetic chemoreceptor trigger zone (CT zone) in the area postrema of the medulla oblongata in dogs suffices for the protection of the animal against the emetic effect of nicotine. In cats, however, nicotine appears to act upon some peripheral locus as well as at the CT zone, since to prevent vomiting due to nicotine in this species it is necessary to carry out spinal deafferentation and mid-cervical vagotomy as well as CT zone ablation. It would therefore appear that both central medullary and afferent nervous mechanisms are involved.

With small and moderate doses of nicotine, it appears to have been established that the effects on respiration are reflexly mediated, and that lethal doses effect peripheral curare-like paralysis of the respiratory muscles. Similarly, the bradycardia produced by nicotine is of reflex origin, comparatively very large doses being required to stimulate the cardio-inhibitory center directly. There is virtually no evidence for a direct central origin of the cardio-accelerator effect of nicotine. Minimally effective doses appear to cause tachycardia reflexly through stimulation of chemoreceptors in such structures as the aortic and carotid bodies, while larger doses stimulate the sympathetic ganglia and the adrenal medulla. This mechanism also holds for the hypertensive effects of nicotine, although large doses may also produce vasomotor action of central origin.

The actions of nicotine upon cerebellar function are poorly understood. The report that topical application of nicotine to the exposed cerebellum causes disappearance of contraction of the nictitating membrane in response to cervical sympathetic stimulation warrants further investigation, since it provides another indication of the possible jurisdiction of the cerebellum over autonomic regulation. Further studies of the effects of nicotine upon cerebral cortical and cerebellar visceral control mechanisms are also indicated.

As to the effect of nicotine upon spinal functions, some studies indicate a stage of stimulation followed by a stage of inhibition or paralysis. However, it has been

stated that the spinal depressant action of nicotine has been considerably overestimated in the literature. It has been held that nicotine does not have the blocking effect on synaptic transmission in the spinal cord that it shows on sympathetic ganglia and neuromuscular junctions. Other studies show that nicotine diminishes or abolishes the patellar reflex in animals while the flexor reflex is relatively unaffected. Monosynaptic activity appears to be depressed while multisynaptic activity is much less affected by nicotine, and may even be facilitated. It may indeed be that nicotine excites internuncial neurones, for example, the Renshaw cells. Analysis of the literature on spinal functions has exposed many unresolved discrepancies.

REFERENCES

- AKAHOSHI, K.: Beitrage sur Pharmacologie des Karotissinus. Über den Einfluss der Karotissini (bsw. Sinusnerven) auf die atmungserregenden Wirkungen der Respirationeanaleptica (Nicotin, Lobelin, Coramin und Hezeton) beim Kaninchen und der Katse. Nagasaki Igakkai Zaschi 16: 252-276, 1938. Abstr. in Jap. J. med. Sci. 12: 41-42, 1938-1940.
- 2. AMANTEA, G.: Sull'asione di varii alcaloidi applicati direttamente sui centri corticali del giro sigmoideo del cane. Arch. Farmacol. sper. 39: 3-11, 1920.
- 3. ANREP, B.: Neue Erecheinungen der Nicotinvergiftung. Arch. Anat. Physiol., Lps. pp. 167-191, 1879.
- 4. BAKER, Z. AND HIMWICH, H. E.: Effect of nicotine on the oxidation of glucose. Amer. J. Physiol. 123: 6-7, 1938. 5. BALL, D.: Action de la Nicotine sur le perf varue. Arch. ital. Biol. 15: 314-320, 1891.
- 6. BERREND, A. AND THIENES, C. H.: The development of tolerance to nicotine by rate. J. Pharmacol. 48: 317-325, 1933.
- 7. BELUFFI, M.: Contributo allo studio della catatonia sperimentale: La catatonia sperimentale nicotinica. Riv. sper. Freniat. 76: 83-122, 1952.
- 8. BICKFORD, R. G.: Physiology and drug action: an electroencephalographic analysis. Fed. Proc. 19: 619-625, 1960.
- BINET, L. AND ZAMPIE, C.: Recherches expérimentales sur l'intoxication par le tabac et par la nicotine. Bull. Soc. Méd. Paris 2: 1106-1109, 1931.
- BLUM, B. AND ZACKS, S.: Analysis of the relationship between drug-induced convulsions and mortality in rats. J. Pharmacol. 124: 350-356, 1958.
- BONTA, I. L., DELVER, A., SIMONS, L. AND DE VOS, C. J.: A newly developed motility apparatus and its applicability in two pharmacological designs. Arch. int. Pharmacodyn. 129: 381-394, 1960.
- BOVET, D., DUREL, P. AND LONG, V.: Antagonisme des dérivés de la dibensothiasine (diparcol, parsidol, phénergan) vis-à-vis des effets centraux de la nicotine. Correspondance des essais avec l'expérimentation clinique dans la maladie de Parkinson. C. R. Soc. Biol., Paris 144: 514-517, 1950.
- 13. BREMER, F.: Nouvelles recherches sur le mécanisme du sommeil. C. R. Soc. Biol., Paris 122: 460-464, 1936.
- BREMER, F. W. AND FELLX, W.: Der Einfluss intraarterieller Nicotininfusionen auf die Extremitätendurchblutung. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 236: 233-234, 1959.
- BREMER, F. W. AND FELIX, W.: Über Kreislaufwirkungen von Nikotin (II). Hers- und Kreislaufreaktionen durch Erregung afferenter Strukturen. Z. Biol. 112: 127-132, 1960.
- BULBRING, E. AND BURN, J. H.: Observations bearing on synaptic transmission by acetylcholine in the spinal cord. J. Physiol. 100: 337-368, 1941-42.
- BUSSE, W.: Über die Beteiligung des Magendarmkanals als Erfolgsorgan des vegetativen Nervensystems an der Nicotingewöhnung. Z. ges. exp. Med. 118: 573-582, 1952.
- BUSSE, W. AND LENDLE, L.: Beeinflussung pharmakologischer Brechreaktionen durch Ganglienblocker, Spasmolytics, Novocain u. a. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 218: 169-176, 1953.
- BUSSE, W. AND LENDLE, L.: Nikotingewöhnung und Nebenwirkungen des Nikotins beim Rauchen. Medisinische 17: 593-595, 1954.
- 20. CAHEN, R. L.: Action of nicotinic stimulant agents on rabbit skeletal muscle. I. Nicotine and acetylcholine. Proc. Soc. exp. Biol., N. Y. 84: 474-476, 1953.
- CAHEN, R. L. AND LYNES, T. E.: Nicotinolytic drugs. I. Drugs inhibiting nicotine-induced tremors. J. Pharmacol. 103: 44-53, 1951.
- CERAVOLO, B. A. AND CHESKEY, C.: Effects of nicotine sulphate injections on sand digging behavior of rats. Proc. S. Dak. Acad. Sci. 36: 222-225, 1957.
- 23. CHAIKOVSKAYA, E. V.: The effect of spasmolytin and its quaternary derivatives on experimental hyperkinesis caused by nicotine and arecoline. Farm. Toks. 22: 58-61, 1959. (In Russian with English summary.)
- 24. CHANCE, M. R. A.: Mammalian behaviour studies in medical research. Lancet 2: 687-690, 1957.
- CHAUCHARD, A. AND B. AND CHAUCHARD, P.: Nouvelles recherches sur le retentissement périphérique des actions pharmacologiques localisées au cortex cérébral. C. R. Soc. Biol., Paris 136: 336-387, 1942.
- 26. CHEN, G. AND BOHNER, B.: Antagonism of nicotine and some CNS depressants. Fed. Proc. 16: 288, 1957.
- 27. CHEN, G. AND BOHNER, B.: A study of certain CNS depressants. Arch. int. Pharmacodyn. 125: 1-20, 1960.

- 28. CHERNIGORSKII, V. N.: Investigation of receptors of certain visceral organs. III. The effect of acetylcholine, nicotine, histamine and potassium chloride on the receptors of the spleen. Fisiol. sh., SSSR 29: 526-535, 1940. (In Russian with an English abstract.)
- CHEYMOL, J. AND QUINQUAUD, A.: Les poisons émétisants devant l'yohimbine. C. R. Soc. Biol., Paris 139: 33-34, 1945.
- CHRYMOL, J. AND QUINQUAUD, A.: Les poisons émétisants devant l'ergotamine. C. R. Soc. Biol., Paris 139: 548-549, 1945.
- CHEYMOL, J. AND QUINQUAUD, A.: Les poisons émétisants pendant l'anesthésie au chloralose. C. R. Soc. Biol., Paris 139: 646-647, 1945.
- CHEYMOL, J. AND QUINQUAUD, A.: Application d'atropine sur le bulbe émétisant. C. R. Soc. Biol., Paris 144: 662-664, 1950.
- CHEYMOL, J. AND QUINQUAUD, A.: Les poisons émétisants pendant la narcose barbiturique. C. R. Soc. Biol., Paris 146: 48-49, 1952.
- COLAS, E. (Note presented by Giard): Action de la nicotine sur le coeur et les vaisseaux. C. R. Soc. Biol., Paris 2: 31-33, 1890.
- COMBOR, J. H., JR.: The location and function of the chemoreceptors of the sorts. Amer. J. Physiol. 127: 176-191, 1939.
- COMBOR, J. H., JR.: The effects of direct chemical and electrical stimulation of the respiratory center in the cat. Amer. J. Physiol. 139: 490-498, 1943.
- CURTE, D. R. AND ECCLES, R. M.: The excitation of Renshaw cells by pharmacological agents applied electrophoretically. J. Physiol. 141: 435-445, 1958.
- CURTE, D. R. AND ECCLES, R. M.: The effect of diffusional barriers upon the pharmacology of cells within the central nervous system. J. Physiol. 141: 446-463, 1958.
- CURTIS, D. R., ECCLES, J. C. AND ECCLES, R. M.: Pharmacological studies on spinal reflexes. J. Physiol. 136: 420-434, 1957.
- 40. DAHLBON, R., EDLUND, T., EXSTRAND, T. AND KATZ, A.: The ability of some phenothiasine derivatives to inhibit nicotine-induced tremore. Arch. int. Pharmacodyn. 99: 241-250, 1952.
- DAWES, G. S.: Studies on veratrum alkaloids. VII. Receptor areas in the coronary arteries and elsewhere as revealed by the use of veratridine. J. Pharmacol. 89: 325-342, 1947.
- 42. DAWES, G. S. AND MOTT, J. C.: Reflex respiratory activity in the new-born rabbit. J. Physiol. 145: 85-97, 1959. 43. DE ALMEIDA, M. O.: L'apnée nicotinique. J. Physiol. Path. gén. 18: 744-752, 1919.
- 44. DE MOURA, R. S.: Acões e efeitos da aspiração da fumaça de cigarros nacionais na pressão arterial e na respiração.
- Hospital, Rio de J. 55: 553-561, 1959. 45. DE WAELE, H. AND VAN DE VELDE, J.: La chémosensibilité du réflexe hypertenseur des oreillettes a divers toxiques. C. R. Soc. Biol., Paris 132: 310-311, 1939.
- DOMATE, A.: On the action of nicotine upon respiration with particular reference to its blockade by hexamethonium. Jap. J. Pharmacol. 5: 1-10, 1955.
- DUNLOP, C. W., STUMPP, C., MAXWELL, D. S. AND SCHINDLEE, W.: Modification of cortical, reticular and hippocampal unit activity by nicotine in the rabbit. Amer. J. Physiol. 198: 515-518, 1960.
- ECCLES, J. C., ECCLES, R. M. AND FATT, P.: The action of drugs on central cholinergic synapses. J. Physiol. 129: 40P-41P, 1955.
- 49. ECCLES, J. C., ECCLES, R. M. AND FATT, P.: Pharmacological investigations on a central synapse operated by acetylcholine. J. Physiol. 131: 154-169, 1956.
- EDGE, N. D., COENE, S. J., LEE, G. E. AND WEAGG, W. R.: The ganglion-blocking activity of aminobicyclo-[2,2,1] heptanes (congeners of mecamylamine) and bicyclo[3,2,1] assoctances (bridged congeners of pempidine). Brit. J. Pharmacol. 15: 207-214, 1960.
- 51. EGGLESTON, C.: The antagonism between atropin and certain central emetics. J. Pharmacol. 9: 11-25, 1917.
- EGGLESTON, C. AND HATCHER, R. A.: The seat of the emetic action of various drugs. J. Pharmacol. 7: 225-253, 1915.
- 58. EEDMANN, W. D. AND SCHAEFEE, K. P.: Über die Wirkung von Diäthyl-p-nitrophenyl-thiophosphate (E 605) auf Rückenmarksreflexe an der Katze. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 223: 519-532, 1954.
- 54. ESEMBERG, J. M.: The effect of nicotine on mase learning ability of albino rats. Fed. Proc. 7: 31-32, 1948.
- 55. ESSENBERG, J. M.: The effect of nicotine on mass behavior of albino rats. J. Psychol. 37: 291-295, 1954.
- ESENNERRE, J. M.: The deterioration of intelligence of albino rate chronically poisoned by nicotine. J. Psychol. 48: 209-218, 1955.
- EXLEY, K. A., FLEMING, M. C. AND ESPELIEN, A. D.: Effect of drugs which depress the peripheral nervous system on the reticular activating system of the cat. Brit. J. Pharmacol. 13: 485-492, 1958.
- FRANK, E. AND KATZ, R. A.: Zur Lehre vom Muskeltonus. I. Über die Aufhebung des Muskeltonus durch Kokain und Novokain (Nikotin-Kokain-Antagonismus). Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 99: 149-167, 1931.
- 59. FRANKS, F. E.: Respiratory failure in acute nicotin poisoning. Amer. J. Physiol. 123: 69P-70P, 1938.
- 60. FRANKE, F. E.: Spinal reflexes in nicotin poisoning. Amer. J. Physiol. 126: P492-P493, 1939.
- 61. FRANKE, F. E. AND DENVIE, M. H.: Spinal reflexes in nicotin poisoning. J. Pharmacol. 55: 390-399, 1935.
- FRANKE, F. E. AND THOMAS, J. E.: A study of the cause of death in experimental nicotin poisoning in dogs. J. Pharmacol. 48: 199-208, 1933.
- FRANKENHARUSEE, B. AND LUNDERVOLD, A.: A note on an inhibitory reflex from the nose on the rabbit. Acta physical. seand. 18: 238-242, 1949.
- 64. FULTON, J. F.: Textbook of Physiology. W. B. Saunders Company, Philadelphia, 1955.

- GANE, A., KELSEY, F. E. AND GEILING, E. M. K.: Excretion and tissue distribution studies on radioactive nicotine. J. Pharmacol. 103: 209-214, 1951.
- GELLER, I., DEMARCO, A. O. AND SEIFTER, J.: Delayed effects of nicotine on timing behavior in the rat. Science 131: 735-737, 1960.
- GEBARD, R. W. AND LIBET, B.: Action of drugs on potentials of isolated frog brain. Amer. J. Physiol. 126: P500, 1939.
- GERAED, R. W. AND LIBET, B.: The control of normal and "convulsive" brain-potentials. Amer. J. Psychiat. 96: 1125-1152, 1940.
- GINEEL, K. H., KLUPP, H., STOEMANN, H. AND WERNER, G.: Hemmung des Patellarsehnenrefieres durch sentral und peripher wirkende Stoffe. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 218: 308-813, 1953.
- 70. GOLD, H. AND BROWN, F.: A contribution to the pharmacology of nicotine. J. Pharmacol. 54: 463-476, 1935.
- GOLD, H. AND MODELL, W.: Studies on the respiratory actions of drugs by means of phrenic potentials. I. Nicotine. J. Pharmacol. 57: 310-323, 1936.
- GRUHSIT, C. C.: Respiratory and cardiovascular effects of nicotine in the cat and dog. Fed. Proc. 16: 303, 1957.
 GRUHSIT, C. C.: Cardiovascular and respiratory effects of nicotine in chloralose anesthetised cats and dogs. Amer. J. med. Sci. 234: 487, 1957.
- 74. GUALTIEBOTTI, T.: Inhibition and excitation in spinal reflex activity. J. Physiol. 117: 401-414, 1952.
- 75. GUTIERREZ-NORIEGA, C.: Catalepsia experimental producida por nicotina. Rev. Neuro-Paiquiat. 5: 323-337, 1942.
- HAAB, H. AND KLAVEHN, W.: Über 3-Piperidino-1-phenyl-1-bicycloheptenyl-propanol-(1) (Akineton). Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 226: 18-35, 1955.
- HARAGUCHI, S.: Über den Einfluss verschiedener Pharmaka auf den Blutdruck und die Atmung bei direkter Application auf die Vaguskerne in der Oblongata der Katse. Nagasaki Igakkai Zaschi 11: 184-192, 1933. Abstr. in Jap. J. med. Sci. 8: 14, 1935.
- HARDT, A. AND HOTOVY, R.: Testierungsmethoden für Stoffe mit curareartiger Wirkung. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 209: 264-278, 1950.
- HARRIS, A. S.: Cardio-inhibitory and vasomotor reflexes from the nose and throat. Ann. oto-laryng. 48: 311-333, 1939.
- 80. HATCHER, R. A.: The mechanism of vomiting. Physiol. Rev. 4: 479-504, 1924.
- 81. HATCHER, R. A. AND FRENCH, B. S.: Studies on vomiting. J. Pharmacol. 46: 97-111, 1932.
- HATCHER, R. A. AND WEISS, S.: Studies on vomiting. J. Pharmacol. 22: 139-193, 1924; see also 21: 220 (abstr.), 1923.
- HATCHEE, R. A. AND WEISS, S.: The seat of the emetic action of the digitalis bodies. J. Pharmacol. 32: 37-53, 1928.
- HAUSER, H., SCHWARS, B. E., ROTH, G. AND BICKFORD, R. G.: Electroencephalographic changes related to smoking. Electroenceph. clin. Neurophysiol. 10: 576, 1958.
- HASARD, R., CHEYMOL, J. AND QUINQUAUD, A.: Nicotine et rhythme respiratoire ches le Chat; pas d'apnée secondaire, apnée unique suivie de polypnée. C. R. Soc. Biol., Paris 138: 454-456, 1939.
- HAZARD, R., CHEYMOL, J. AND QUINQUAUD, A.: Persistance d'apnées toxiques (ergotamine, nicotine, adrénaline, yohimbine) après section des pneumogastriques à la partie inférieure du thorax. C. R. Soc. Biol., Paris 135: 745-747, 1941.
- HEIMSTRA, H. W., GRODSKY, M. A. AND DAVIS, R. T.: Sand digging behavior of rats. Proc. S. Dak. Acad. Sci. 34: 96-102, 1955.
- HENDERSON, V. E. AND YI, C. L.: Experiments on the pharmacology of respiration in the rabbit. J. Pharmacol. 79: 235-239, 1943.
- 89. HEYMANS, C.: Action of drugs on carotid body and sinus. Pharmacol. Rev. 7: 119-142, 1955.
- HEYMANS, C., BOUCKAERT, J.-J. AND DAUTREBANDE, L.: Sensibilité réflexogène cardiaque des sinus carotidiens aux agents chimiques: nicotine, lobéline, cyanure et sulfure. C. R. Soc. Biol., Paris 196: 1276-1279, 1931.
- 91. HEYMANS, C., BOUCKAERT, J. J. AND DAUTREBANDE, L.: Sinus carotidien et réflexes respiratoires. III. Sensibilité des sinus carotidiens aux substances chimiques. Action stimulante respiratoire réflexe du sulfure de sodium, du cyanure de potassium, de la nicotine et de la lobéline. Arch. int. Pharmacodyn. 49: 54-91, 1931.
- HEYMANS, C., BOUCKAERT, J. J. AND DAUTREBANDE, L.: Au sujet du mécanisme de la bradycardie provoquée par la nicotine, la lobéline, le cyanure, le sulfure de sodium, les nitrites et la morphine, et de la bradycardie asphyxique. Arch. int. Pharmacodyn. 41: 261-289. 1981.
- HEYMANS, C., BOUCKAEET, J. J., VON EULEE, U. S. AND DAUTERBANDE, L.: Sinus carotidiens et réflexes vasomoteurs. Au sujet de la sensibilité réflexogène vasomotrice des vaisseaux artériels aux excitants chimiques. Arch. int. Pharmacodyn. 43: 88-110, 1932.
- 94. HETMANS, C., DELAUNOIS, A. L. AND VERBEKE, R.: Nicotine and cardio-inhibitory vagal centre. Arch. int. Pharmacodyn. 84: 221-226, 1950.
- HEYMANS, C., PANNIER, R. AND VERBERE, R.: Influences des anticholinestérases prostigmine, ésérine et diigopropylfluorophosphate, et de l'atropine sur la transmission centrale et périphérique des excitations nerveuses. Arch. int. Pharmacodyn. 72: 405-429, 1946.
- 96. HEYMANS, J. F. AND HEYMANS, C.: Recherches physiologiques et pharmacodynamiques sur la tete isolée du Chien. II. Sur l'influence respiratoire et pneumogastrique de l'adrénaline, de l'atropine, de la pituitrine, de la nicotine et des digitaliques. Arch. int. Pharmacodyn. 32: 9-43, 1926.
- 97. HOUSSAY, B.-A. AND HUG, E.: Action directe et réfiexe de la nicotine et de la lobéline sur les centres respiratoires et vagaux (cardio-modérateur, intestinal et gastrique). C. R. Soc. Biol., Paris 99: 1508-1509, 1923.

98. JOHNSTON, L. M.: Tobacco smoking and nicotine. Lancet 2: 742, 1942.

- KATO, K.: Über den Einfluss der Reisung der Nasenschleimhaut durch reisende Gase auf die Darmbewegung, den Blutdruck und die Atmung. Okayama-Igakkai-Zaschi 51: 596-609, 1939. Abstr. in Jap. J. med. Sci. 13: 39-40. 1941.
- 100. KERLET, T. L., RICHARDS, A. B., BEGLEY, R. W., ABREU, B. AND WEAVER, L. C.: Anticonvulsant and antitremor effects of chlorphenomamine. J. Pharmacol. 132: 860-865, 1961.
- 101. KNAPP, D. E. AND DOMINO, E. F.: Evidence for a nicotinic receptor in the central nervous system related to EEG arousal. Fed. Proc. 29: 807, 1961.
- KOLL, W. AND SCHUTZ, R. M.: Die Wirkungen von Nikotin auf Mono- und Polysynaptische Reflexe der tiefspinalen Katze. Arch. int. Pharmacodyn. 129: 343-363, 1960.
- 103. KRONEBERG, G.: Über periphere und sentrale Wirkungen optisch isomerer Belladonna-Alkaloide. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 225: 523-583, 1955.
- KUSCHINSKY, G. AND HOTOVY, R.: Über die sentral erregende Wirkung des Nicotins. Klin. Wechr. 22: 649-650, 1943.
- 105. LAFFAN, R. J. AND BORBON, H. L.: Emetic effects of nicotine and lobeline. Fed. Proc. 16: 315, 1957.
- 106. LAFFAN, R. J. AND BORRON, H. L.: Emetic action of nicotine and lobeline. J. Pharmacol. 121: 468-476, 1967.
- 107. LAFFAN, R. J., PAPANDRIANOS, D. P., BURKE, J. C. AND CRAVEE, B. N.: Antiemetic action of fluphenasine (Prolixin): a comparison with other phenothiasines. J. Pharmacol. 131: 130-134, 1961.
- LAMBIASE, M. AND SERBA, C.: Fumo e sistema nervoso. I. Modificasioni dell'attivita elettrica corticale da fumo. Acta neurol., Napoli 12: 475-493, 1987.
- 109. LANGLEY, J. N. AND DICKINSON, W. L.: On the local paralysis of peripheral ganglis, and on the connexion of different classes of nerve fibers with them. Proc. roy. Soc. 46: 423-431, 1889.
- 110. LANGLEY, J. N. AND DICKINSON, W. L.: Pituri and nicotine. J. Physiol. 11: 265-806, 1890.
- 111. LARSON, P. S., HAAG, H. B. AND SILVETTE, H.: Tobacco: Experimental and Clinical Studies; A Comprehensive Account of the World Literature. Williams & Wilkins Company, Baltimore, 1961.
- 112. LEHMANN, K. B.: Chemische und toxikologische Studien über Tabak, Tabakrauch und das Tabakrauchen. Arch. Hyg., Berl. 68: 319-620, 1909.
- LEMEBECK, F.: Untersuchungen über die Auslösung afferenter Impulse. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 239: 1-6, 1967.
 LEWHN, L.: Phantastica: Narcotic and Stimulating Drugs: Their Use and Abuse, trans. from the 2nd German ed. by P. H. A. Wirth. London. 1981.
- 115. LIBER, B. AND GERAED, R. W.: Chemical control of potentials of the isolated frog brain. Amer. J. Physiol. 123: 128P, 1998.
- 116. LIBET, B. AND GERARD, R. W.: Automaticity of central neurones after nicotine block of synapses. Proc. Soc. exp. Biol., N. Y. 38: 886-888, 1938.
- 117. LINN, P. M., ALBERT, J. R., PETERS, E. L. AND ALLEN, L. E.: Pharmacology of methdilasine (Tacaryl). Arch. int. Pharmacodyn. 129: 77-107, 1960.
- 118. LONGO, V. G. AND BOVET, D.: Studio elettroencefalografico dell'antagonismo svolto dai farmaci antiparkinsoniani sui tremori provocati dalla nicotina. Boll. Soc. ital. Biol. sper. 28: 612-615, 1963.
- 119. LONGO, V. G., VON BERGER, G. P. AND BOVET, D.: Action of nicotine and of the "ganglioplegiques centraux" on the electrical activity of the brain. J. Pharmacol. 111: 349-359, 1954.
- MACHT, D. I. AND BLOOM, W.: Comparative study of ethanol, caffeine and nicotine on behavior of albino rate. Proc. Soc. exp. Biol., N. Y. 18: 99-100, 1920-31.
- MACHT, D. I., BLOOM, W. AND GIU CHING TING: Comparative study of ethanol, caffeine and nicotine on the behavior of rats in a mass. Amer. J. Physiol. 56: 264-372, 1921.
- MAROUTÍ, H. AND L.: Variations de l'excitabilité de la moèlle et du réflexe médullaire par application locale de nicotine. C. R. Soc. Biol., Paris 99: 392-394, 1928.
- 133. MERCIER, J. AND DESAIGNE, S.: Determination de l'accoutumance experimentale par une methode psychophysiologique (IV^{*} Memoire). Étude de quelques drogues sympathicomimetiques, de la nicotine et de la cocaine. Ann. pharm. franc. 18: 502-518, 1960.
- MIETEIEWSEI, E.: Über die Chemoreseptoren der Blutgefässe im Kaninchenohr. Arch. int. Pharmacodyn. 104: 373-387, 1956.
- 125. MOLL, H.: The treatment of post-encephalitic parkineonism by nicotine. Brit. med. J. 1: 1079-1081, 1928.
- MOORE, B. AND ROW, R.: A comparison of the physiological actions and chemical constitution of piperidine, contine and nicotine. J. Physiol. 22: 373-395, 1898.
- MOROCUTTI, C. AND SERGIO, C.: Asione di alcune sostanse simpaticomimetiche sull'attivita convulsiva da nicotina nel coniglio. Riv. Neurol. 28: 216-226, 1958.
- 127a. MORVESS, G.: Problems in Cerebellar Physiology. Charles C Thomas, Springfield, Ill., 1950.
- MORUSH, G. AND MAGOUN, H. W.: Brain stem reticular formation and activation of the EEG. Electroenceph. clin. Neurophysiol. 1: 455-473, 1947.
- 129. MOUBRATCHI, H.: Estudos sóbre a excitação química da córtex cerebral (Acão da acetilocolina). Mem. Inst. Osw. Crus 42: 385-400, 1945.
- NAGABART, N.: The mechanism of apnea caused by intravenously injected nicotine and aminocordin. Jap. J. Pharmacol. 2: 97-101, 1953.
- NEL, E., REDWOOD, C. R. M. AND SCHWEITERE, A.: Pathways of afferent impulses from the chemoreceptors of the sortic body in the cat. J. Physiol. 168: 26P, 1949.
- NICHOLSON, H. C. AND SORIN, S.: Respiratory effects from the application of cocaine, nicotine and lobeline to the floor of the fourth ventricle. Amer. J. Physiol. 123: 766-774, 1938.

- NIEUWENHUYZEN, F. J.: Pharmacologische Eichung des Nikotins an Ratten und Mäusen. Proc. Koninkl. Akad. Wetenschap., Amsterdam 37: 575-578, 1934.
- 134. NOVIKOVA, A. A.: Influence of nicotine upon reflex activity. Biull. eksp. biol. med., S.S.S.R. 9: 38-42, 1940.
- 135. OCHS, S. AND HUNT, K.: Nicotine and Gaba on cortical transmission. Fed. Proc. 19: 289, 1960.
- 136. OZAKI, K.: Thalamic epileptic convulsion. Jap. J. Brain Physiol. 5: 79-88, 1942. (In Japanese.)
- 137. PAINTAL, A. S.: Impulses in vagal afferent fibres from specific pulmonary deflation receptors. The response of these receptors to phenyl diguanide, potato starch, 5-hydroxytryptamine and nicotine, and their role in respiratory and cardiovascular reflexes. Quart. J. exp. Physiol. 49: 89-111, 1955.
- PETERS, J. J., VONDERAHE, A. R. AND POWERS, T. H.: Comparative effects of some convulsant drugs on the behavior and electrical activity of the nervous and muscular system of the salamander. J. Pharmacol. 123: 28-34, 1958.
- 139. PICK, E. P. AND UNNA, K.: The effect of curare and curare-like substances on the central nervous system. J. Pharmacol. 83: 59-70, 1945.
- 140. RANSON, S. W., FAUBION, L. R. AND ROSS, C. J.: Vasodilator mechanisms. IV. The intra-arterial injection of histamine. Amer. J. Physiol. 64: 311-319, 1923.
- 141. REUSE, J. J.: A propos des propriétés antinicotiniques de certains dérivés de la thiodiphénylamine. Arch. int. Pharmacodyn. 89: 117-121, 1952.
- 142. REUSE, J. J.: Modifications de certains effets de la nicotine ches le lapin par l'administration préalable de réserpine. J. Physiol., Paris 52: 209-210, 1960.
- 143. RICHTER, R.: Untersuchungen über die spasmolytische Wirkung von Restalkaloiden ans der Lobelia inflata. Versuch einer Analyse der asthmalösenden Wirkung der Tinktura Lobeliae. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 199: 280-295, 1938.
- 144. RISSOLO, A.: Effet de la cocalne, de la morphine et de la nicotine sur l'excitabilité de la moelle épinière. C. R. Soc. Biol., Paris 97: 1073-1074, 1927.
- 145. RIZZOLO, A.: L'effet de la nicotine sur l'excitabilité de l'écorce cérébrale. C. R. Soc. Biol., Paris 97: 1330-1381, 1927.
- RIZZOLO, A.: L'écorce cérébrale grise répond-elle a l'excitation électrique. C. R. Soc. Biol., Paris 97: 1875-1877, 1927.
- RIZZOLO, A.: L'effet de la nicotine sur l'excitabilité de la substance blanche (couronne rayonnante du cerveau).
 C. R. Soc. Biol., Paris 98: 132-134, 1928.
- 148. RIZZOLO, A.: Clonus and generalized epileptiform convulsions caused by local applications of strophanthin, theine and nicotine on the cephalic end of the central nervous system. Arch. Farmacol. sper. 50: 16-30, 1929.
- ROBENTHAL: Sur un phénomène observé dans l'empoisonnement par la nicotine. C. R. Soc. Biol., Paris 4: 91-92, 1867.
- 150. RUPPERT, H.: Über eine tachyphylaktische Wirkung von Isolobinin und Nikotin am Zentralnervensystem. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 199: 497-507, 1942.
- SACRA, P. AND MCCOLL, J. D.: Effect of ataractics on some convulsant and depressant agents in mice. Arch. int. Pharmacodyn. 117: 1-8, 1958.
- 152. SAKATA, K.: Electroencephalographic studies on come induced by stimulation of various parts of the brain in cats with special reference to intracerebral nicotinisation. Acta Sch. med. Univ. Kioto 35: 67-91, 1957.
- 153. SALAMA, S.: Central action of tetramethyl- and tetraethyl-ammonium salts and of erythroidines. J. Physiol. 108: 24P, 1949.
- 154. SCHWEITEER, A. AND WEIGHT, S.: Action of nicotine on the spinal cord. J. Physiol. 94: 136-147, 1938.
- 155. SEMBA, T. AND IRISAWA, H.: Studies on the action of nicotine on the blood pressure. Nippon Seirigaku Zasshi 13: 203-210, 1951. (In Japanese.)
- 156. SILVEETRINI, B.: Neuropharmacological study of the central effects of benactysine and hydroxysine (cerebral electrical activity, alarm and flight reaction on hypothalamic stimulation, central antagonisms). Arch. int. Pharmacodyn. 116: 71-85. 1958.
- SMITH, C. S., ROSENFELD, S. AND SACES, L. J.: Study of the effect of nicotinism in the albino rat. J. Pharmacol. 55: 274-287, 1935.
- SPILLANE, J. D.: The effect of nicotine on spinocerebellar ataxia. Brit. med. J. 2: 1345-1351, 1955.
 STADELMANN, E.: Pharmakotherapeutische Bestrebungen bei Herskrankheiten. Dtsch. Arch. klin. Med. 65: 129-155, 1900.
- 160. STEFANTSOV, V. D., DMITHIEV, V. D. AND KARAMTAN, A. I.: Effect of excitation of the cerebellum with nicotine on the excitability of the cervical sympathetic nerve. Biull. eksp. biol. med. S.S.S.R. 11: 215-217, 1941. (In Russian.)
- STERN, P. AND MITROVIÓ-KOCIÓ, D.: Pharmakologische Analyse der Bulbocapnin-Katalepsie an der Maus. Arch. int. Pharmacodyn. 116: 489-498, 1958.
- 162. STONE, C. A., MECKELNBURG, K. L. AND TOECHIANA, M. L.: Antagonism of nicotine-induced convulsions by ganglionic blocking agents. Arch. int. Pharmacodyn. 117: 419-434, 1958.
- 163. STOYANOVSKII, D. N.: Mechanism of the toxic action of nicotine. Farm. Toks. 18: 23-26, 1955. (In Russian.)
- 164. STUMPP, C.: Die Wirkung von Nicotin auf die Hippocampustätigkeit des Kaninchens. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 235: 421-436, 1959.
- 165. TAKAGI, S. F. AND COMURA, Y.: Effect of nicotine on the synapse of the central nervous system. Amer. J. Physiol. 192: 447-452, 1958.
- 165a. TAKASAKI, K., KATSUDA, N. AND NAGASAKI, N.: The mechanism of the reflex apnea caused by nicotine; the lung perfusion's method in dogs. Kurume med. J. 6: 158-162, 1959.

نمد.

- 165b. TAKASAKI, K., YOKOO, H. AND NAGASAKI, N.: The mechanism of the reflex apnea caused by nicotine; influence of cutting the vagal pulmonal branches and of injection into the pulmonal artery in cats, dogs and rabbits. Kurume med. J. 6: 152-157, 1959.
- 166. TATGNER, R. AND CULP, W.: Über die Wirkung von Nicotin auf das Rückenmark der Katze. Einflüsse von Nicotin auf Patellarsehnen-, Flexor- und Extensorreflex vor und nach Zufuhr von Interneuronengiften. Arch. erp. Path. Pharmak. 229: 423-432, 1953; see also 222: 214, 1954 (summary).
- 167. THOMAS, J. E. AND FRANKE, F. E.: Peripheral paralysis as a cause of respiratory failure in acute nicotin poisoning. J. Pharmacol. 23: 150-151, 1924.
- 168. THOMAS, J. E. AND FRANKE, F. E.: The site of the toxic action of nicotin on the respiratory mechanism. J. Pharmacol. 34: 111-135, 1928.
- 169. TRUHART, H.: Ein Beitrag sur Nicotinwirkung. Inaugural-Dissertation, 70 pp. Dorpat, 1869.
- 170. TURUBBEROV, B.: Sublingual nerve as a sensory nerve of the tongue (experiments on the perfusion of the tongue's vascular system). Bull. Biol. Med. exp. URSS 39: 32-35, 1955. (In Russian.)
- 171. VAN HARREVELD, A. AND FEIGEN, G. A.: The effect of nicotine on spinal synaptic conduction. Fed. Proc. 7: 126, 1948.
- 172. VAN HARREVELD, A. AND FEIGEN, G. A.: Effect of nicotine on spinal synaptic conduction and on polarisation of spinal cord. J. Neurophysiol. 11: 141-148, 1948.
- VAN PROOSDU, C.: Smoking. Its Influence on the Individual and Its Role in Social Medicine. Elsevier Publ. Co., Amsterdam, 1960.
- 174. VELICH, A.: Beitrag sur Kenntnis der Wirkung des Nikotins, Koniins, Piperidins und des Nebennierenextraktes auf die Blutgefasse. Med. Blat. Wschr. ges. Heilk. 29: 219-292, 307-308, 319-320, 335-337, 347-352, 1906.
- VON BERGER, G. P. AND LONGO, V. G.: Axione della nicotina sull'attivita elettrica cerebrale del coniglio "encefalo isolato." Boll. Soc. ital. Biol. sper. 29: 431-435, 1953.
- 176. VON BRÜCKE, F. AND KAINDL, F.: Über sentrale Einflüsse auf die pressorischen Carotis-Sinus-Reflexe. Arch. int. Pharmacodyn. 79: 202-220, 1949.
- 177. VON HOF, C. AND SCHNEIDER, H.-H.: Über die Wirkungsweise von Magnesium im Gegensatz zu Curarin und Nicotin. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 214: 176-184, 1952.
- 178. WECHSLER, R. L.: Effects of cigarette smoking and intravenous nicotine on the human brain. Fed. Proc. 17: 169, 1958.
- 179. WERNER, G., GINEEL, K. H. AND KLUPP, H.: Zur Wirkung des Nicotins auf das Rückenmark. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 218: 148-149, 1953.
- WEST, J. W. AND GUZMAN, S. V.: Inhibitory reflexes elicited by intracoronary injections of acetylcholine, veratridine and ganglionic stimulating agents. Fed. Proc. 16: 136, 1957.
- 181. WEET, J. W. AND GUZMAN, S. V.: Cardio-dynamic effects of intracoronary injection of nicotine. Amer. J. med. Sci. 234: 488, 1957.
- 182. WEST, J. W., GUEMAN, S. V. AND BELLET, S.: Cardiac effects of intracoronary arterial injections of nicotine. Circulation Res. 6: 389-395, 1958.
- 183. WRIGHT, S.: The mode of action of certain drugs which stimulate respiration. J. Pharmacol. 54: 1-16, 1935.
- 184. YABUNO, S.: Come puncture by means of nicotinisation. Acta Sch. med. Univ. Kioto 32: 32-51, 1954.